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Appendix 4E 
PRELIMINARY FINAL REPORT 

 
Name of entity: 

AXIOM PROPERTIES LIMITED 

 

ABN or equivalent company 
reference: 

 Reporting period:   Previous corresponding period: 

40 0090 63834 
 

 Year ended 30 June 2019 
 

  Year ended 30 June 2018 
 

 
Results for announcement to the market 
                                     $A'000 

  
Revenues from ordinary activities  
 

up/down 88% to 447 

Loss from ordinary activities after tax attributable to 
members 

up/down 128% to (2,377) 

     
Net Loss for the period attributable to members  up/down 128% to (2,377) 
  

Dividends 
It is not proposed to pay dividends. 
 
 
This report includes and is to be read in conjunction with the Annual Report and any public announcements 
made by the Company during the reporting period in accordance with the continuous disclosure requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001. 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 
 
Dear Shareholder 
 
This year’s loss of $2.377 million follows six consecutive years of profits, with a record of $8.455 million last financial 
year.  Whilst it is disappointing to record a loss after our long run of profits, last year’s sale of assets which provided 
the record profits has been invested in our development pipeline, which your Directors believe will provide superior 
profits into the future. 
 
It was also decided to return a proportion of recent profits to shareholders in financial year 2018 in the form of a 2 
cent per share return of capital, costing the Company $8.5 million.  Your Directors believed that in the absence of 
dividends, our many loyal shareholders should share in the excellent profit results of recent years. 
 
The outlook for the Company is very positive and I invite shareholders to study the details of the many projects in the 
development pipeline that are outlined in the next pages of the Annual Report. 
 
Once again, on behalf of the Board, I wish to acknowledge the outstanding work of our executive team, Managing 
Director Ben Laurance, General Manager Paul Rouvray, CFO and Company Secretary Paul Santinon and 
Development and Investment Manager Anthony Lombardo.  I also thank my fellow Directors John Howe, Liu 
Yingchun and Alternate Director Ms Doris Chung Gim Lian for their guidance throughout the year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ian Laurance  AM 
CHAIRMAN  
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REVIEW 
 
Dear Shareholder, 
 
After reporting 6 consecutive years of profit culminating in last year’s record result of $8.455m, the financial year just 
completed has delivered the Company a reported net loss of $2.377 million, such is the nature of the property 
development business in which the Company is involved. 
 
Your Board and management are committed to not only delivering on its core capability of developing quality property 
development opportunities, but are also highly cognisant of having to build a recurring income capability through long 
term ownership of its projects.  
 
CHURCHILL CENTRE NORTH (34% INTEREST IN CHURCHILL NORTH CENTRE INVESTMENT TRUST 1): 
The Company currently holds 6,650,000 of 19,320,000 units within the Trust and received its share of distributable 
income for the year.  The capital value of the asset held within the Trust has increased to $45,000,000. 
 
During the period the Centre maintained stable performance with improving turnover of anchors as well as the 
completion of development of Supercheap Auto on 6 May 2019, with Axiom entitled to receive a Development 
Management fee. 
 
DOUBLE BAY, NSW 
During the year, the Company continued to progress it’s involvement in the Cross St CarPark opportunity with 
Woollahra Council. Located in Sydney’s Double Bay, the project will involve the redevelopment of the Council owned 
car park into a major, multi-use project incorporating retail, commercial, residential, carparking and cinema and 
entertainment uses. The Company and its partner, national construction and development group Built., executed a 
Heads of Agreement during the year with Woollahra Council reflecting the advancement of the project and the 
corresponding scheme to the next stage. This mixed-use development is an exciting project for the Company and 
provides the Group with significant exposure to the Sydney commercial, retail and residential markets. 
 
“GLENLEA ESTATE” MT BARKER, SA 
During the year, the Company continued its development and construction of the first Stage of “Glenlea Estate”, the 
residential subdivision Joint Venture opportunity in Mt Barker, South Australia. Construction of the first Stage of the 
development completed in February 2019 which resulted in the creation of 46 titled lots. Of these lots, 23 were 
successfully sold and 20 settled during the year. The Group has received strong support through pre-sales for the 
second stage of this project, and remains confident of the demand for its lots in the project. 
 
 
CURRIE ST, ADELAIDE CBD 
The Company, in conjunction with its Joint Venture partner, has been developing an exciting scheme for it’s 
development opportunity in the heart of the Adelaide CBD at 62 Currie Street. Following an extensive design 
competition the Group elected to work with national architecture firm Hames Sharley on the mixed-use project, which 
is designed to incorporate commercial office, retail and hotel accommodation uses. Given the strong interest received 
from both national and international hotel operators for a new “lifestyle / millennial” hotel for Adelaide, the Group 
conducted an international operator search for qualified and appropriate hotel operators to anchor this component of 
the development, resulting in the Company engaging QT Hotels as the selected operator. 
 
WORLD PARK, ADELAIDE CBD FRINGE 
The Group continues its search to secure an appropriate anchor tenant to enable the development and construction 
of the subsequent stages of its “Worldpark: Adelaide” green office campus on the fringe of the Adelaide CBD at 33 
Richmond Rd, Keswick.  
 
During the year, the Company participated in a Market Call – Expression of Interest for a State Government pre-
commitment which would enable the development of the balance of the site.  
 
RICHMOND, NSW 
The Company previously announced it had entered into a conditional agreement to purchase a 2,200 sq.m site 
adjoining the Richmond Club in Western Sydney for a hotel accommodation development. The Company 
subsequently announced it had secured a hotel operator for this new project and is continuing to work with the 
Richmond Club and the hotel operator to deliver on this opportunity. A Development Application for the hotel is 
expected to be lodged subsequent to year end. This project gives the Group exposure to the fast-growing Western 
Sydney corridor which is benefiting from a multi-billion-dollar government capital expenditure program on 
infrastructure. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

5 

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REVIEW (continued) 
 
NEW PROJECTS 
 
BUTLER 
During this year, the Company conducted Due Diligence on a large format retail opportunity located in Butler, north 
of Perth, WA. 
 
The site is capable of incorporating approximately 15,000 sq.m of large format retail and associated tenancies. 
Subsequent to year end, the Group executed an agreement to purchase the land from the vendor Woolworths, 
conditional on the Group receiving a satisfactory Development Approval.  
 
The Company is confident it can secure sufficient pre-commitments from tenants to occupy the development and is 
confident in the surrounding area’s demographics and the general market outlook. 
 
OUTLOOK 
The Group remains confident and comfortable with its strategy of continuing to deliver on its existing portfolio of 
property projects, as well as source and evaluate new opportunities, and is confident in its ability to effectively manage 
the risks associated with its development activities. The divestment of both its Churchill South and North retail assets 
during the previous year released substantial cash back to the Company, which is being recycled into new projects 
to deliver superior returns than otherwise might be gained from more passive investments. 
 
These sales also allowed the Company to reward its shareholders with a 2.0 cents per share capital return in the 
previous year, which is consistent with the Board’s strategy of sharing the successes of the Group’s development 
projects with its shareholders as and when circumstances allow. 
 
The Group’s strategy to grow the NTA of the business, and strengthen the balance sheet through strategic 
developments and divestments is expected to continue to drive strong underlying results. 
 
Lastly, may I add my ongoing thanks and appreciation to our shareholders for their continued support, as well as 
adding my sincere thanks to the Axiom team, my fellow Directors, and our network of consultants and advisors for 
their assistance and dedication throughout the year. 
 

 

 

 

 

Ben Laurance 

MANAGING DIRECTOR 
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CORPORATE INFORMATION  
 
ABN 40 009 063 834 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
Your directors submit the annual financial report of the Consolidated Entity (or Group) consisting of Axiom Properties 

Limited and the entities it controlled during the financial year ended 30 June 2019. In order to comply with the 

provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors report as follows:   

 

Directors 

The names of directors who held office during or since the end of the year and until the date of this report are as 

follows. Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated. 

  

Name Particulars 

 
 

Ian James Laurance AM 

(Non-Executive Chairman) 

Mr Laurance is an economics graduate from the University of Western Australia. He 

spent 14 years as a Member of the Western Australian Parliament and is a former 

State Minister for Housing, Tourism, Lands and Regional Development. He was 

appointed by the Western Australian Government as the inaugural Chairman of the 

Midland Redevelopment Authority and was previously Chairman of the Western 

Australian Sports Centre Trust for ten years.  He also chaired the publicly listed mining 

company Arafura Resources for several years. 

 

Mr Laurance also spent seven years as Chairman of the Perth Convention Bureau. 

The Bureau is charged with the responsibility of attracting Business Events to Perth 

and Western Australia. 

 

In a voluntary capacity, Mr Laurance has served as Chairman and Director of a 

number of not-for-profit and charitable bodies. 

 

In 2006 Mr Laurance was made a Member of the Order of Australia (AM). 

 

Mr Laurance is a member of the Group’s Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee 

and Nomination Committee. 

 

Other Public Company Directorships 

None 

 

Former Public Company Directorships in last three years 

None 

 

 
 

Ben Peter Laurance 

(Managing Director) 

Ben Laurance is the Managing Director of Axiom Properties Ltd, and an Executive 

Director of Axiom’s major shareholder, Pivot Group Pty Ltd. Mr Laurance’s role as 

Managing Director of Axiom is to source, manage and deliver investment grade 

development projects across various asset classes around Australia. He is also 

responsible for the day to day management and operation of the Company. With his 

expertise in the corporate and financial markets, Mr Laurance has been instrumental in 

the guidance and management of Axiom’s business strategy. 

 

Mr Laurance has a Bachelor of Economics from the University of Western Australia, and 

he is also a member of the Group’s Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and 

Nomination Committee. 

 

Other Public Company Directorships 

None 

 

Former Public Company Directorships in last three years 

None 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 

 
 

John Sylvester Howe 

(Non-Executive Director)  

Mr Howe has over 30 years of business experience in the development and construction 

industry. He established a national and international reputation across a range of 

sectors including property, integrated tourism resorts, theme parks, special events and 

tall buildings. 

 

As the former Executive Chairman of Weathered Howe Pty Ltd, Mr Howe is a recognised 

industry leader with memberships in many Queensland associations and industry-based 

councils. Currently Mr Howe is the Chairman of iEDM, one of Australia’s leaders in the 

delivery of Tourism, Leisure and Events Projects. Mr Howe holds the Degree of Bachelor 

of Engineering (Civil), is a member of the Institution of Engineers Australia and is 

currently the honorary Professor of Integrated Engineering at Griffith University and 

previously an Adjunct Professor at the Mirvac School of Sustainable Development at 

Bond University. 

 

Mr Howe is a member of the Group’s Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and 

Nomination Committee. 

  

Other Public Company Directorships 

None 

 

Former Public Company Directorships in last three years 

None 

 

 
 

Liu Ying Chun  

(Non-executive Director) 

 

Mr. Liu Ying Chun is the Chief Executive Officer and an Executive Director of Oriental 

University City Holdings (H.K.) Limited (“OUCHK”), a company listed on the Growth 

Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He is primarily 

responsible for managing the overall operations of OUCHK.  Mr. Liu is currently also a 

director of Langfang Education Consultancy. 

 

Mr. Liu’s previous appointments include Chairman of Langfang Huaxi Construction 

Consultancy Company Limited, Vice-Head in the Langfang Audit Office and Head of 

Construction Center Department. 

 

Mr. Liu possesses a Diploma in Business Economics awarded by the Renmin University 

of China. Mr. Liu is also registered as an engineer in the People’s Republic of China 

(“PRC”), a valuer with the China Appraisal Society and a qualified auditor accredited by 

the National Audit Office in the PRC. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



AXIOM PROPERTIES LIMITED 
 

9 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 

 
 

Doris Chung Gim Lian 

(Non-executive Director) 

(Alternate Director) 

 

Ms Doris Chung Gim Lian is currently the Director of Operations and Human Resource 

for Raffles Education Corporation Limited (“REC”, and together with its subsidiaries, 

“REC Group”), having been appointed since February 2000 to oversee the operational 

efficiency and human resource needs of the REC Group. 

 

Ms Doris Chung is concurrently a Director for several of REC’s subsidiaries including 

Raffles K12 Sdn. Bhd. that operates the Raffles American School in Educity, a fully 

integrated education hub at Iskandar, Malaysia. She is directly responsible for the 

management of the Raffles American School. 

 

Over the past 17 years, Doris has directed all aspects of college operations. She has 

researched and developed new operational functions and procedures for the colleges 

to increase efficiency. Further, she has collaborated with financial teams to study 

operational expenses, revenues and cash flows. As HR Director, she has developed 

plans for managing / retaining talent inside the organization and for improving leadership 

strength. 

 

Additionally, she has also integrated functional strategies, utilizing business expertise to 

reach financial and operational objectives. In her roles, she has to meet with board 

members to conduct presentations on strategies and enhancement projects. 

 

On account of her vast experience in the operations of REC colleges since its inception 

in 1990, Doris has been actively involved in and is spearheading the Group’s recent 

strategic expansion into Europe. 

 

She is also the Executive Director of Chew Hua Seng Foundation which was 

incorporated in 2007 by her spouse, Mr. Chew Hua Seng, the founder of REC to help 

disadvantaged youth by granting them the resources they need to develop their talents 

and unlock their potential in life. The Foundation believes education is the cornerstone 

to building bright futures and stronger communities. 

 

 
Company Secretary 

 

 
 

Paul Santinon 

Chief Financial Officer 

Mr Paul Santinon is Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer of Axiom Properties 

Ltd. Mr Santinon is responsible for the overall finance function, including taxation, 

treasury, management accounting, corporate accounting and planning and analysis for 

reporting to Board members and senior executives.  He is also responsible for company 

secretarial services and compliance, risk and governance systems and practices across 

the Group. 

 

Mr Santinon has more than 15 years’ experience in finance management in Australia 

and overseas.  Prior to joining the Group he worked for French multinational company 

Capgemini and lead diverse finance teams in Australia and China.  Mr Santinon started 

his career working in insolvency, advisory and audit disciplines within a large chartered 

accounting firm. 

 

In a volunteer capacity, Mr Santinon currently serves as a Director for a number of not-

for-profit organisations. 

 

Mr Santinon is a Certified Practicing Accountant and a fellow member of CPA Australia 

(FCPA), a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors (MAICD), holds a 

Master of Business Administration (MBA) from the University of South Australia and a 

Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Adelaide. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

 

Interests in the shares and rights of the Company and related bodies corporate 

The following relevant interest in shares and performance rights of the Company were held by the Directors as at the 

date of this report. 

 

Directors Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 

(at the date of this report) 

Performance Rights 

(at the date of this report) 

 Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly 

I J Laurance AM - 5,250,000 - - 

B P Laurance  - 71,495,142 - - 

J S Howe - 9,290,450 - - 

Y C Liu - - - - 

D G L Chung - 82,250,000 - - 

 

Details of ordinary shares issued by the Company during or since the end of the financial year as a result of the 

exercise of a performance right are: 

 

Number of shares Amount paid per share 

Nil   Nil 

 

DIVIDENDS 

No dividends have been paid or declared since the start of the financial year and the directors do not recommend the 

payment of a dividend in respect of the financial year. 

 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activities during the year of the Consolidated Entity consisted of property investment and development. 

No significant change in the nature of the Group’s property investment, development and funds management activities 

took place during the year. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 

 

Financial Results 

The Group recorded a loss after tax of $2.377 million for the year ended 30 June 2019, down on the previous year’s 

profit (30 June 2018:  $8.455 million profit after tax).  This loss is representative of the Company entering a development 

phase following the divestment of its Churchill North and South assets and return of capital to Shareholders in 2018. 

 

Whilst Mt Barker contracted sales have settled during the financial year and debt has been repaid, the nature of 

residential subdivisions is that there are inherent higher infrastructure and setup costs incurred in the first stage.  

Combined with the need for the Company to accrue for Axiom’s development management fee and effective land 

acquisition cost, a small accounting loss has resulted from settlements in Stage 1a.  An increase in accounting profits 

will therefore occur as future stages are completed, with allocation of some upfront costs already accounted for in 

Stage 1a. 

 

The apportionment of Stage 1a versus wider estate costs has been independently conducted by Rider Levett Bucknall. 

 

Business Overview 

 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 

 

 
Double Bay 
 

Double Bay, Sydney NSW 
In July 2016, the Company announced that it had been selected as the Preferred Proponent to develop a major mixed-
use project on the Council-owned Cross St carpark in Sydney’s Double Bay as part of a joint venture with major national 
and development company Built. The development provides Axiom with significant exposure into the strong Sydney 
commercial, retail and residential markets and an opportunity to transform a high profile strategic site into a spectacular 
and unique complex, incorporating a new Council carpark, a multi-screen Palace cinema complex, general retail, food 
precinct, commercial office and residential apartments. 
 
During the year, Axiom and Built, together with Council executed a Heads of Agreement outlining the broad commercial 
and planning terms associated with the re-development of this 4,000 sq.m site. Together the partners are currently 
working collaboratively on the project to deliver an exceptional outcome for Council, the development partners and the 
broader community. 
 
The Company expects to have formal development documentation agreed shortly through the execution of a Project 
Delivery Agreement under the Public Private Partnership guidelines.  
  

Cross St carpark 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued) 

 

 
Glenlea Mt Barker 
 

Mt Barker (50% Interest) 
In May 2015, the Company announced it had entered into a 50/50 Joint Venture Agreement with the landowners of a 
50-hectare parcel of land in Mount Barker, South Australia to develop a major residential sub-division.  Mt Barker is 
one of SA’s fastest growing regions as well as being one of the nation’s fastest growing inland towns. The Company 
has been working with the landowners to develop a 600 allotment scheme that is in keeping with the natural and 
majestic environment of the area. 
 
This broad acre subdivision opportunity gives the Company a low risk exposure to the residential sector. Under the 
terms of the Joint Venture Agreement, Axiom is responsible for the delivery and management of the entire project, and 
will be entitled to share in the net proceeds of the residential sales.  In July 2016, the Company announced that it had 
received Development Approval to construct a total of 600 lots. 
 
During the year, the Company and its partner completed Stage 1a construction which includes seventy‐three 
allotments (46 titled), nature reserves, water detention basin and beautification as well as major entry roads and entry 
statement. The Company and its partner continue to receive contracted allotment settlements, the proceeds of which 
are being used to progressively pay back the BankSA development finance facility. 
 
Stage 1a construction of homes is well underway, with some homes completed and occupied and purchasers already 
enjoying the benefits of living in the estate.  The Company is working in partnership with Custom Built Homes and 
Rivergum homes to construct further in-demand townhouse product on Stage 1a titled allotments to support the sale 
of house and land packages to buyers in the market, with strong interest and purchaser holding deposits already being 
received. 
 
Subsequent to year end, the Company and its Partner are expecting to receive Council approval to commence 
construction of Stage 1b and a finance facility offer from BankSA to support commencement of this stage. The 
Company and its partner are now reviewing civil contract and landscape tender responses and expect construction to 
commence this quarter. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued) 
 

 
Currie St, Adelaide 

 

Currie St, Adelaide SA (50% Interest) 
In June 2017, the Company announced that it had executed a Joint Venture Agreement with the owners of a strategic 
site in the heart of Adelaide’s CBD. The 1,238 sq.m site at 62 Currie St is located adjacent to the Government’s vibrant 
city key laneway and street transformation projects, offering thriving food and wine precincts in the middle of the main 
working hub in Adelaide as well as being in close proximity to the redeveloped Adelaide Oval, new Royal Adelaide 
Hospital and new Adelaide University and University of South Australia medical precincts. 
 
Under the terms of the Joint Venture Agreement, Axiom has the right to contribute equity of up to $6.0m to earn a 50% 
interest in the project, and will be responsible for delivering the development. Axiom also has the right to earn a 
development management fee during the project’s life-cycle.  
 
Following an extensive operator search, the Company and its partner selected and entered into a management 
agreement with QT Hotels.  Negotiations with prospective commercial users for the office component of the mixed‐use 
project are continuing, supported by a formal commercial leasing campaign in conjunction with Upstream Property. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued) 
 

 
Artist impression 
 

World Park 01, Keswick SA (100% Interest) 
Worldpark:01 is a campus-style, green office park on the fringe of the Adelaide CBD with a master plan approval to 
construct 3 boutique office buildings. The first of these buildings, the Stage One “Coffey” Building was successfully 
pre-committed, developed and delivered in October 2010 to a 5-star green Star rating, and subsequently sold for 
$46m in December 2010. 
 
Axiom retains ownership of the balance of the land of approximately 1.6 hectares and is actively marketing and 
promoting it to secure a pre-commitment sufficient to commence construction of the next stage of the project. The 
development provides a unique boutique office solution with abundant car-parking in Adelaide’s fringe CBD market.  
 
The Company continues to generate income from the site through temporary car-parking revenue, sufficient to 
minimise holding costs on the site. 
 
The Company is continually reviewing its options for this site and exploring new opportunities for its development. 
 
The Company has been shortlisted for a State Government pre-commitment through an Expression of Interest 
campaign to provide office and specialist accommodation for a State Government agency which would develop the 
balance of the land.  The Government is expected to announce the preferred proponent by calendar year end. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued) 
 

 
Artist impression 
 

Francis Street, Richmond NSW (100% Interest) 
In July 2017, the Company announced that it had entered into an agreement to purchase a freehold site on the corner 
of Francis and East Market Streets in Richmond, Western Sydney. 
 
Axiom has agreed to purchase the approx. 2,212 sq.m site from the Richmond Club, one of New South Wales’ longest 
standing ex-servicemen’s clubs, and develop it into high-quality hotel accommodation. During the year, the Company 
continued to develop the design and progress the planning approval process with the current landowner, Richmond 
Club. Settlement of the land purchase is still subject to all development approvals being secured and financial close 
for a hotel operator being achieved. 
 
This opportunity gives Axiom an exposure to the fast-growing Western Sydney corridor, which is benefitting from a 
multi-billion-dollar government capital expenditure program on infrastructure.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued) 
 

 
Artist impression proposed Butler large format retail centre and existing Woolworths retail centre, Butler 

 
Butler, WA (100% Interest) 
Subsequent to year end on 4 July 2019 the Group announced it had entered into a conditional agreement with 
Woolworths to purchase a strategic, 3-hectare retail site in Butler, WA for $9.6m.  The site is centrally located within 
Butler’s commercial and retail core, adjoining the recently opened Woolworths-anchored supermarket and shopping 
centre on the corner of Butler Boulevarde and Cambourne Parkway. The Butler train station, incorporating a 
Park’N’Ride, is situated adjacent to the site. 
 
The terms of the agreement provide Axiom with 18 months in which to achieve a satisfactory Development Approval, 
which is well underway. The 3-hectare site is currently vacant and is zoned for a variety of retail uses including 
showroom and full retail offerings. Axiom is proposing to develop a large format retail development incorporating 
approximately 15,000 sq.m of showroom tenancies. 
 
This exciting new opportunity marks Axiom’s re-entry into the Perth market since it was involved in the development 
of Enex 100, a mixed-use office and retail development at 100 St George’s Tce in the Perth CBD with major tenant 
NAB and in partnership with Melbourne based Industry Superannuation Property Trust (ISPT). 
 

Outlook 

The Reserve Bank of Australia in April noted that there is much description on the symptoms of Australia’s low wages 

growth, but that there is no clear picture as to an underlying cause or a likely end.  The unemployment rate combined 

with low inflation has led the RBA to lower the cash rate to 100 points, with most analysts forecasting a further two 25-

point cuts this calendar year.   

 

Office 

According to recent Property Council research, the Australian office market vacancy rate decreased to 8.3 per cent for 

July 2019 (down from 8.5 per cent in January 2019).  The Company believes the timing is right to invest in its office 

pre-commit strategies to offer proposed A Grade commercial offering in the mixed-use precincts in Adelaide’s Currie 

Street and Sydney’s Double Bay projects.  The Directors continue to be encouraged by the pre-commitment enquiry 

in both projects. 

 

  

Large Format Retail Centre 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued) 

  

Retail 

The Company’s investment in Churchill Centre North Investment Trust 1 continues to provide the Company with 

exposure to rental yield growth and annual revenue from a strong retail asset.  It also provides the Company with future 

Development Management and Performance fees when construction of the final stage of the development 

commences.  According to ABS statistics, retail continues to have mixed results across the board but does remain 

steady. 

 

On the back of steady retail data from the ABS, the Company considers further exposure to retail through its Butler 

project as the right timing to enter back into the large format retail market.  An analysis of Perth’s residential growth 

metrics shows there is a lack of large format retail representation in the northern growth expansion zone.  The existing 

Butler Central Woolworths and speciality stores trade well and there has been strong interest from large format retailers 

who have requested commercial terms for the proposed development. 

 

Residential 

Latest ABS population growth statistics show Mount Barker continues to be one of the fastest and largest growth areas 

in South Australia, with population growth and demand continuing to remain balanced.  The next stage of development, 

which is forecast to commence this quarter, will result in 44 large lifestyle allotments being created to meet demand of 

land types no longer available in Stage 1a.  The Directors believe the strategy to develop Stage 1b will add further 

interest and support to the construction of Stage 1a small allotments which will offer competitive house and land 

packages to first time home buyers. 

 

In a win for first time home buyers, the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) announced in July 2019 that 

it had updated its guidance on residential mortgage lending and will no longer expect authorised deposit-taking 

institutions (ADI’s) to assess home loan applications using a minimum interest rate of at least 7 per cent. Common 

industry practice has been to use a rate of 7.25 per cent.  Instead, ADIs will be able to review and set their own 

minimum interest rate floor for use in serviceability assessments and utilise a revised interest rate buffer of at least 2.5 

per cent over the loan’s interest rate.  The Directors believe APRA’s updated guidance and implementation by ADI’s 

will make it easier for first home buyers to enter the market and underpin further Mount Barker growth. 

 

The Company continues to work with Woollahra Municipal Council to jointly create a scheme that supports Council’s 

2030 strategic plan.  Whilst there has been a decline in the median apartment price in Double Bay in the last twelve 

months, there is still high demand given there is low turnover of stock with average length of ownership being 9 years. 

The Directors believe the current scheme, which is in one of Australia’s most prestigious residential locations, is well 

balanced to take advantage of market performance across residential, commercial and retail. 

 

The Directors continue to have a positive outlook regarding the Group’s pipeline of projects and maintain a philosophy 

of a lean and nimble company structure able to deploy capital effectively on its pipeline of exciting projects, whilst 

minimising overhead expenditure.  The Company’s executives continue to de-risk and work on existing projects as 

well as identifying and securing diversified land and development opportunities in a competitive market, despite 

property yields compressing as investors seek above cash rate returns. Additionally, the Group continues to evaluate 

various initiatives to build the Company’s recurring income streams to complement the lumpy nature of development 

profits, and to explore additional, new income streams. 

 
END OF REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 

During the financial year there was no significant change in the state of affairs of the Group other than that referred to 

in the financial statements or notes thereto. 

 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS, PROSPECTS AND BUSINESS STRATEGIES 

The prospects and business strategies of the Group are discussed on pages 11 – 15 of this Report. 
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ENVIRONMENTAL LEGISLATION 

The Group’s operations are subject to various environmental regulations under both Commonwealth and State 

legislation, particularly in relation to its property development activities. The Group’s practice is to ensure that where 

operations are subject to environmental regulations, those obligations are identified and appropriately addressed. This 

includes the obtaining of approvals, consents and requisite licences from the relevant authorities and complying with 

their conditions. There have been no significant known breaches of environmental regulations to which the Group is 

subject. 

 

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

The Company has agreed to indemnify all of the Directors of the Company for any liabilities to another person (other 

than the Company or related body corporate) that may arise from their position as Directors of the Company and its 

controlled entities, except where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith.  In accordance with 

common practice, the insurance policy prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability insured against and the amount 

of the premium. 

 

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

This report, which forms part of the directors’ report, outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for the key 

management personnel (“KMP”) of Axiom Properties Limited (the “Company”) for the financial year ended 30 June 

2019. The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by Section 308(3C) of the 

Corporations Act 2001. 

 

The remuneration report details the remuneration arrangements for KMP who are defined as those persons having 

authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Company and the Group, 

directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether executive or otherwise) of the parent company, and includes the 

top executives of the Parent and the Group receiving the highest remuneration. 

 

Key Management Personnel 

(i) Directors 

Ian Laurance (Non-Executive Chairman) 

Ben Laurance (Managing Director) 

John Howe (Non-Executive Director) 

Liu Ying Chun (Non-executive Director)  
Doris Chung Gim Lian (Non-executive Director - alternate director) 

 

(ii) Other key management personnel 

Paul Rouvray (General Manager) 

 

Remuneration Philosophy 

The performance of the Company depends upon the quality of the Directors and other key management personnel. 

The philosophy of the Company in determining remuneration levels is to: 

 

• Set competitive remuneration packages to attract and retain high calibre employees; and 

• Link executive rewards to shareholder value creation. 

 

Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for determining and reviewing 

compensation arrangements for the Directors, the Managing Director and the company secretary. The Remuneration 

Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of Directors and other key 

management personnel on a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with an overall 

objective of ensuring maximum shareholder benefit from the retention of a high-quality Board. 

 

Remuneration Structure 

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and other key 

management personnel remuneration is separate and distinct. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (continued) 

 

Company’s Remuneration Policies 

The Board, subject to the approval of shareholders in the Annual General Meeting, sets the remuneration level of the 

non-executive members of the Board. Remuneration is set according to the skills, experience and length of service of 

each Director. Remuneration of the Non-Executive Chairman is determined by the Board of Directors and is also 

determined by the skills, experience and length of service of the Non-Executive Chairman. Non-Executive Directors 

receive a fixed fee and statutory superannuation for services as Directors. 

 

The Company’s Constitution provides that Directors may collectively be paid a fixed sum, not exceeding the aggregate 

maximum per annum from time to time, as determined by the Company and approved by shareholders. A Director 

may be paid fees or other amounts as the Directors determine where a Director performs special duties or otherwise 

performs services outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a Director. Where deemed appropriate there is a link 

between remuneration paid to Non-Executive Directors and corporate performance such as bonus payments for 

achievement of certain key performance indicators. 

 

Remuneration for Executive Directors and Senior Managers is based upon a number of factors, including length of 

service, particular experience of the individual concerned, and overall performance of the Company.  

 

The contracts for service between Executive Directors and the Company are on a continuing basis the terms of which 

are not expected to change, other than for remuneration packages, which are reviewed annually by the Board in its 

capacity as Remuneration Committee. Remuneration packages may include base salary, superannuation, fringe 

benefits, bonuses and performance rights. 

 

Service Agreements 

The following Directors are engaged by the Company through Service Agreements: 

 

I J Laurance AM – Non-Executive Chairman 

The terms and conditions of the service agreement dated 7 July 2006 (amended 1 January 2013) are: 

 

• Mr Laurance is to provide executive chair services for 20 hours per week as required for Axiom Properties Limited; 

• In exchange for Mr Laurance’s services, an annual remuneration package of $82,500 plus benefits is payable; 

• The Company may terminate this contract at any time with one month’s notice if Mr Laurance defaults in the 

performance and observance of his obligations under the agreement or is declared bankrupt. 

 

B P Laurance – Managing Director 

The terms and conditions of the service agreement dated 24 November 2006 (amended effective 1 January 2008) are: 

 

• Mr Laurance is to provide managing directorial services as required for Axiom Properties Limited; 

• In exchange for Mr Laurance’s services, an annual remuneration package of $524,000 plus benefits is payable; 

• The Company may terminate this contract at any time with one month’s notice if Mr Laurance defaults in the 

performance and observance of his obligations under the agreement or is declared bankrupt.  

 

J S Howe – Non-Executive Director 

The terms and conditions of the letter of appointment dated 22 April 2008 are: 

• Mr Howe is to provide non-executive director services as required for Axiom Properties Limited; 

• In exchange for Mr Howe’s services, an annual director fee of $60,000 plus benefits is payable; 

• The Company may terminate this contract at any time with one month’s notice if Mr Howe defaults in the 

performance and observance of his obligations under the agreement or is declared bankrupt. 
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Y C Liu – Non-Executive Director 

The terms and conditions of the letter of appointment dated 25 November 2015 are: 

• Mr Liu is to provide non-executive director services as required for Axiom Properties Limited; 

• In exchange for Mr Liu’s services, Oriental University City Holdings (H.K.) Limited will receive an annual fee of 

$55,000; 

• The Company may terminate this contract at any time with one month’s notice if Mr Liu defaults in the performance 

and observance of his obligations under the agreement or is declared bankrupt. 

 

D G L Chung – Non-Executive Director (alternate) 

The terms and conditions of the letter of appointment dated 25 November 2015 are: 

• Ms Chung is to provide non-executive director services as Mr Liu’s alternate as required for Axiom Properties 

Limited; 

• The Company may terminate this contract at any time with one month’s notice if Ms Chung defaults in the 

performance and observance of her obligations under the agreement or is declared bankrupt. 

 

P J Rouvray – General Manager 

The terms and conditions of the service agreement dated 4 January 2007 are: 

 

• Mr Rouvray is to provide general manager services as required for Axiom Properties Limited; 

• In exchange for Mr Rouvray’s services, an annual remuneration package of $372,000 plus benefits is payable; 

• The Company may terminate this contract at any time with one months’ notice if Mr Rouvray defaults in the 

performance and observance of his obligations under the agreement.
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Remuneration of Directors and other KMP 

 

Table 1: Directors’ and other KMP’s remuneration for the years ended 30 June 2019 

  
Short-term employee benefits Post-

employment 

benefits 

Long-term 

benefits 

Share-based 

payments 

 
Proportion of 

remuneration that is 

performance based 

2019 Cash salary 

and fees 

Cash bonus Non-

monetary 

benefits 

Superannuation Long service 

leave 

Performance 

Rights 

Total 

Name $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % 

Directors 
        

I J Laurance AM 81,176  20,000           9,387  7,712                 -    -  118,275  17% 

J S Howe 59,211           10,000                  -               5,625                  -    -         74,836  13% 

Y C Liu 55,000                 -                    -                    -                    -                    -    55,000 - 

D G L Chung                 -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -    - 

B P Laurance        515,712  100,000             -  48,961        (27,154)        -  637,519  16% 
         

Other KMP  
       

P J Rouvray 365,782  100,000           27,261           34,726  (4,846)  -  522,923 19% 
         

Total KMP compensation 1,076,881         230,000  36,648  97,024  (32,000)  -      1,408,553  
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Table 2: Directors’ and other KMP’s remuneration for the years ended 30 June 2018 

  
Short-term employee benefits Post-

employment 

benefits 

Long-term 

benefits 

Share-based 

payments 

 
Proportion of 

remuneration that is 

performance based 

2018 Cash salary 

and fees 

Cash bonus Non-

monetary 

benefits 

Superannuation Long service 

leave 

Performance 

Rights 

Total 

Name $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % 

Directors 
        

I J Laurance AM          78,886  25,000           9,307  7,494                 -    21,498  142,185  33% 

J S Howe 57,659           15,000                  -               5,478                  -    15,049         93,186  32% 

Y C Liu 55,000                 -                    -                    -                    -                    -    55,000 - 

D G L Chung                 -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -    - 

B P Laurance        501,616  200,000             5,439  47,643        (16,445)        42,997  781,250  31% 
         

Other KMP  
       

P J Rouvray 355,140  250,000           26,538           33,725  (23,495)  42,997  684,905 43% 
         

Total KMP compensation 1,048,301         490,000  41,284  94,340  (39,940)  122,541      1,756,526  
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Table 3:  Cash bonuses for the year ended 30 June 2019          

          

Cash bonuses granted to Mr I J Laurance, Mr J S Howe, Mr B P Laurance and Mr P J Rouvray were paid on 9 January 2019 at the discretion of the Board acting in its capacity as Remuneration 

Committee. The bonuses therefore vested 100% during the financial year ended 30 June 2019.          

          

The short-term cash incentive was based on the following performance criteria: 

 

1.  Achievement of profitability and NTA targets of the company 

2.  Delivery of current pipeline of projects 

3.  Securing of new projects and investments 

 

Details of these short-term incentives recognised as remuneration, forfeited or available for vesting in future financial years is outlined below:      

   

Name Included in 

Remuneration 

% Vested in 

current 

year 

% Forfeited 

in current 

year 

% Available 

for vesting 

in future 

years 

Maximum $ 

available 

for vesting 

in future 

years 

Minimum $ 

available 

for vesting 

in future 

years 

Directors $ 
   

$ $ 

I J Laurance AM           20,000  100% 0% N/A N/A N/A 

J S Howe           10,000  100% 0% N/A N/A N/A 

B P Laurance          100,000  100% 0% N/A N/A N/A 

Other KMP  
     

P J Rouvray          100,000  100% 0% N/A N/A N/A 

 

 

Table 4: Performance rights in existence during the financial year 

 

Performance Right Grant Date Expiry Date Grant date fair value Number of Rights Vesting Date 

Nil - - - - 
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Table 5:  Shareholding of key management personnel 

 
Number of shares held by parent entity Directors and specified executives directly or beneficially 
 

2018 Balance 
1 July 2018 

Received as 
Remuneration 

Rights 
Exercised 

Net Change 
Other 

Balance 
30 June 2019 

Directors      

I J Laurance 4,250,000 - 1,000,000 - 5,250,000 

B P Laurance 64,607,524 - 2,000,000 4,887,618 71,495,142 

J S Howe 8,590,450 - 700,000 - 9,290,450 

D G L Chung 82,250,000 - - - 82,250,000 

 159,697,974 - 3,700,000 4,887,618 168,285,592 

      
Other KMP      
P Rouvray 10,000,000 - 2,000,000 (4,000,000) 8,000,000 

 10,000,000 - 2,000,000 (4,000,000) 8,000,000 

 
 
Table 6:  Rights holdings of key management personnel 

 

 
2019 

Balance 
1 July 2018 

Rights 
Exercised1 

Balance 
30 June 2019 

Vested at 
30 June 20192 

Value of Rights  
Exercised1 

Directors     

I J Laurance 1,000,000 (1,000,000) - - 54,670 

B P Laurance 2,000,000 (2,000,000) - - 109,340 

J S Howe 700,000 (700,000) - - 38,269 

 3,700,000 (3,700,000) - - 202,279 

      

      

Other KMP     

P J Rouvray 2,000,000 (2,000,000) - - 109,340 

 2,000,000 (2,000,000) - - 109,340 

 
1All rights exercised on 2 July 2018. Value of rights based on fair value at grant date of 5.46 cents each. All rights exercised 
during the year were for nil consideration.  
 
2 All rights are exercisable immediately when vested 

 

Table 7:  Group performance 

 

The table below shows the Group’s earnings performance as well as the movement in the Group’s Earnings Per Share (EPS) 
and share price over the last 5 years. 
 

Financial Report Date Profit / (Loss) 
After Tax 

$’000 

Basic EPS Cents Share Price 
cents 

Return on Market 
Capitalisation 

% 
     

30 June 2015 3,615 0.85 6.10 14.18% 

30 June 2016 447 0.11 4.90 2.21% 

30 June 2017 5,432 1.29 4.80 26.92% 

30 June 2018 8,455 1.98 3.90 49.89% 

30 June 2019 (2,377) (0.55) 3.60 (15.27%) 
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Other transactions with key management personnel 

Pivot Group Pty Ltd, a Director related entity of Mr B P Laurance, was reimbursed for travel and accommodation costs 

in connection with consultancy services provided to the Board by its Chairman Peter Laurance A.O., an advisor to the 

Board. The expenses were reimbursed at cost.  The total charged to the Company was $Nil (2018: $6,457).   

 

Integrated Event Delivery Management Pty Ltd, a Director related entity of Mr J S Howe, was reimbursed for Director 

required travel and accommodation costs. The expenses were reimbursed at cost.  The total charged to the Company 

was $7,194 (2018: $4,314).  Axiom was reimbursed for Adelaide office rental and outgoings costs.  The expenses 

were reimbursed at cost.  The total received by Axiom was $30,295 (2018: $Nil). 

 

END OF AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT 

 
DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

 

The number of meetings of the board of directors (including board committees) held during the year ended 30 June 

2019, and the number of meetings attended by each director are set out below: 

  
Board Audit Committee Remuneration 

Committee 

Nomination 

Committee 

Name Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended 

I J Laurance AM 8 8 2 2 1 1 - - 

J S Howe 8 8 2 2 1 - - - 

Y C Liu 8 3 2 - 1 - - - 

D G L Chung 8 - 2 - 1 - - - 

B P Laurance 8 8 2 2 1 1 - - 

 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any 

proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all 

or any part or those proceedings.  The Company was not a party to any such proceedings. 

 

ROUNDING OFF OF AMOUNTS  

The Group is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191 

and in accordance with that Instrument, amounts in the consolidated financial statements and directors’ report have 

been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

 

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES

Section 307(C) of the Corporations Act 2001 requires the Company’s auditors, BDO Audit (SA) Pty Ltd, to provide the

Directors of the Company with an Independence Declaration in relation to the audit of the financial report.  This

Independence Declaration is set out on page 35 and forms part of the Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June

2019.

 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor are 

outlined in Note 24 to the financial statements. The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is 

compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.  
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 
 
Subsequent to 30 June 2019 and as announced to the ASX on 4 July 2019, Axiom entered into a conditional agreement 
with Woolworths to purchase a strategic, 3-hectare retail site in Butler, WA for $9.6m.  In accordance with the terms of 
the agreement, a deposit of $479,769 was paid to Woolworth’s solicitors to be held in trust until settlement.  The deposit 
is fully refundable should Axiom not achieve satisfactory Development Approval in 18 months. 
 
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2019 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect: 
 

• the Group’s operations in future financial years; or 
• the results of those operations in future financial years; or 
• the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years. 

 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ben Laurance 

MANAGING DIRECTOR 

 

Adelaide, South Australia 

Dated: 21 August 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 

Axiom Properties Limited (Company) has established a corporate governance framework, the key features of which 
are set out in this statement.  In establishing its corporate governance framework, the Company has referred to ASX 
Corporate Governance Council Principles and Recommendations 3rd edition (Principles & Recommendations).  
The Company has followed each recommendation where the Board has considered the recommendation to be an 
appropriate benchmark for its corporate governance practices.  Where the Company's corporate governance 
practices follow a recommendation, the Board has made appropriate statements reporting on the adoption of the 
recommendation.  In compliance with the "if not, why not" reporting regime, where, after due consideration, the 
Company's corporate governance practices do not follow a recommendation, the Board has explained its reasons 
for not following the recommendation and disclosed what, if any, alternative practices the Company has adopted 
instead of those in the recommendation. 

The following governance-related documents can be found on the Company's website at 
https://www.axiompl.com.au/about under the section marked "Corporate Governance": 

Charters 
Board 
Audit Committee 
Nomination Committee 
Remuneration Committee 

Policies and Procedures 
Policy and Procedure for Selection and (Re) Appointment of Directors 
Process for Performance Evaluations 
Policy on Assessing the Independence of Directors 
Diversity Policy (summary) 
Code of Conduct (summary) 
Policy on Continuous Disclosure (summary) 
Compliance Procedures (summary) 
Procedure for the Selection, Appointment and Rotation of External Auditor 
Shareholder Communication Policy 
Risk Management Policy (summary) 
Policy for Trading in Company Securities 

The Company reports below on whether it has followed each of the recommendations during the 2019 financial year 
(Reporting Period).  The information in this statement is current at 21 August 2019. 
 
Board 
 
Roles and responsibilities of the Board, Company Secretary and Senior Executives 
(Recommendations: 1.1, 1.4) 
 
The Company has established the functions reserved to the Board, and those delegated to senior executives and 
has set out these functions in its Board Charter, which is disclosed on the Company’s website.  
 
The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company through its key functions of 

overseeing the management of the Company, providing overall corporate governance of the Company, monitoring 

the financial performance of the Company, engaging appropriate management commensurate with the Company's 

structure and objectives, involvement in the development of corporate strategy and performance objectives, and 

reviewing, ratifying and monitoring systems of risk management and internal control, codes of conduct and legal 

compliance. 

 

Senior executives are responsible for supporting the Managing Director and assisting the Managing Director in 
implementing the running of the general operations and financial business of the Company in accordance with the 
delegated authority of the Board.  Senior executives are responsible for reporting all matters which fall within the 
Company's materiality thresholds at first instance to the Managing Director or, if the matter concerns the Managing 
Director, directly to the Chair or the lead independent director, as appropriate. 

Under the Board Charter, the Company Secretary is accountable directly to the Board in relation to all matters to do 
with the proper functioning of the Board. Specific matters for the Company Secretary are set out in the Board 
Charter. 
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Election and (Re) Appointment of Directors 
(Recommendations: 1.2, 1.3, 2.6) 

The Board has adopted a Policy and Procedure for Election and (Re) Appointment of Directors. In accordance with 
this policy, the Board conducts appropriate background checks before a director is appointed or put forward as a 
candidate for election. This policy also outlines the material information the Board considers relevant to a decision 
on whether or not to elect or re-elect a director, to give to shareholders to make an informed decision regarding the 
election. 

All new directors participate in an induction program on appointment. The Company has a written agreement with 
each director and senior executive setting out the terms of their appointment.  

Skills, experience, expertise and period of office of each Director 
(Recommendation: 2.2) 

A profile of each Director setting out their skills, experience, expertise and period of office is set out in the Directors' 
Report on page 7 of the 2018 Annual Report.   

The Board reviews the competencies of the existing Board regularly to ensure that its members have the mix of skills, 
experience, expertise and diversity that will best increase the Board’s effectiveness.  The Board is of the view that 
its current composition represents the mix of skills and diversity for which the Board is looking to achieve in 
membership of the Board.  The Board comprises directors with the following skills and experience that the Board 
considers to be particularly relevant to the Company:  strategic thinking; financial management and analytical skills; 
experience in business management; risk management knowledge and expertise; fund raising skills; industry 
knowledge and expertise; people management skills; change management skills and marketing and public relations 
experience.   

Director independence 
(Recommendations: 2.3, 2.4, 2.5) 
 
The Board has a combination of independent and non-independent directors.  The Board considers its composition 
is, and continues to be, appropriate for the Company’s current operations.  The Company considers that each of its 
directors possess the right combination of skills and experience suitable for building the Company.  The Board will 
continue to monitor its composition as the Company’s operations evolve, and will appoint further independent 
directors if considered appropriate.   
 
The Board considers the independence of directors having regard to the relationships listed in Box 2.3 of the 
Principles & Recommendations and the Company's materiality thresholds and has adopted a Policy on Assessing 
the Independence of Directors.  The Board has agreed on the following guidelines, as set out in the Company's Board 
Charter for assessing the materiality of matters: 

• Balance sheet items are material if they have a value of more than 10% of pro-forma net asset. 

• Profit and loss items are material if they will have an impact on the current year operating result of 10% or more. 

• Items are also material if they impact on the reputation of the Company, involve a breach of legislation, are 

outside the ordinary course of business, could affect the Company’s rights to its assets, if accumulated would 

trigger the quantitative tests, involve a contingent liability that would have a probable effect of 10% or more on 

balance sheet or profit and loss items, or will have an effect on operations which is likely to result in an increase 

or decrease in net income or dividend distribution of more than 10%. 

 
Contracts will be considered material if they are outside the ordinary course of business, contain exceptionally 

onerous provisions in the opinion of the Board, impact on income or distribution in excess of the quantitative tests, 

there is a likelihood that either party will default, and the default may trigger any of the quantitative or qualitative tests, 

are essential to the activities of the Company and cannot be replaced, or cannot be replaced without an increase in 

cost which triggers any of the quantitative tests, contain or trigger change of control provisions, are between or for 

the benefit of related parties, or otherwise trigger the quantitative tests. 
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Director independence (continued) 
 
The independent directors of the Company during the Reporting Period were John Howe, Liu Ying Chun and Doris 

Chung Gim Lian (alternate director to Mr Liu). Mr Howe, Mr Liu and Ms Chung are independent as they are non-

executive directors who are not members of management and who are free of any business or other relationship that 

could materially interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with, the independent exercise 

of their judgment.  

 
The non-independent directors of the Company during the Reporting Period were Mr Ian Laurance (Chair) and Mr 
Ben Laurance (Managing Director).   
 
The non-independent Chair of the Board is Mr Ian Laurance.  Mr Laurance was an executive Chair, however his role 
became non-executive on 1 January 2013.  Mr Laurance does not satisfy paragraph 2 of the independence criteria 
set out in Box 2.3 of the Principles & Recommendations. 
 
The Board continues to believe that Mr Laurance is the most appropriate person to Chair the Board because of his 
industry experience, including as former State Minister for Housing, Tourism and Lands, former Chairman of the 
Midland Redevelopment Authority, former chair of rare earths company, Arafura Resources Limited and current 
director a number of not-for-profit boards.  The Board (in the absence of Mr Laurance) believes that Mr Laurance 
makes decisions that are in the best interests of the Company.  Mr Howe has been appointed lead independent 
director to take the role of Chair when Mr Laurance is unable to act as Chair due to any conflict of interest.   
 
The Managing Director is Mr Ben Laurance who is not Chair of the Board. 
 
Board committees 
 
Nomination Committee 
(Recommendations: 2.1) 
 
The Board has not established a separate Nomination Committee.  The role of the Nomination Committee is carried 
out by the full Board in accordance with the Company’s Nomination Committee Charter.  Given the current size and 
composition of the Board, the Board believes that there would be no efficiencies gained by establishing a separate 
Nomination Committee.  Items that are usually required to be discussed by a Nomination Committee are marked as 
separate agenda items at Board meetings when required.  When the Board convenes as the Nomination Committee 
it carries out those functions which are delegated to it in the Company’s Nomination Committee Charter.  The Board 
deals with any conflicts of interest that may occur when convening in the capacity of the Nomination Committee by 
ensuring that the director with conflicting interests is not party to the relevant discussions. 

The full Board did not officially convene in its capacity as a Nomination Committee during the Reporting Period, 
however nomination-related discussions occurred from time to time during the year as required.   

The Board has adopted a Nomination Committee Charter which describes the role, composition, functions and 
responsibilities of the full Board in its capacity as the Nomination Committee.  The Company’s Nomination Committee 
Charter is disclosed on the Company’s website.   

Safeguard Integrity in Corporate Reporting 
(Recommendations: 4.1, 4.2, 4.3) 
 
The Board has not established a separate Audit Committee and accordingly, is not structured in accordance with 
Recommendation 4.1.    Given the size and composition of the Board, the Board believes that there would be no 
efficiencies gained by establishing a separate Audit Committee.  Items that are usually required to be discussed by 
an Audit Committee are marked as separate agenda items at Board meetings when required.  When the Board 
convenes as the Audit Committee it carries out those functions which are delegated to it in the Company’s Audit 
Committee Charter.  The Board deals with any conflicts of interest that may occur when convening in the capacity of 
the Audit Committee by ensuring that the director with conflicting interests is not party to the relevant discussions.  
Mr Howe chairs the meeting when the full Board meets in its capacity as the Audit Committee.   
 
The Company has adopted an Audit Committee Charter which describes the role, composition, functions and 
responsibilities of the full Board in its capacity as the Audit Committee.  
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued) 
  
Safeguard Integrity in Corporate Reporting (continued) 
 
Details of director attendance at Audit Committee meetings during the Reporting Period are set out in a table in the 
Directors’ Report on page 24 of the 2019 Annual Report.  The full Board in its capacity as the Audit Committee held 
2 meetings during the Reporting Period.   

Details of each of the director's qualifications are set out in the Directors' Report on page 7 of the 2019 Annual Report.  

Each of the Board members considers themselves to be financially literate and have industry knowledge.  

Furthermore, Board members may seek external advice from the Company’s auditors to assist with financial matters, 

if required.  It should also be noted that the Company’s Chief Financial Officer attends meetings if required to assist 

the full Board in its capacity as the Audit Committee.  

 

The Company has established a Procedure for the Selection, Appointment and Rotation of its External Auditor. The 
Board is responsible for the initial appointment of the external auditor and the appointment of a new external auditor 
when any vacancy arises, as recommended by the Audit Committee (or its equivalent). 
 
Candidates for the position of external auditor must demonstrate complete independence from the Company through 
the engagement period. The Board may otherwise select an external auditor based on criteria relevant to the 
Company's business and circumstances. The performance of the external auditor is reviewed on an annual basis by 
the Audit Committee (or its equivalent) and any recommendations are made to the Board.  
 
The Company’s Audit Committee Charter and Procedure for Selection, Appointment and Rotation of External Auditor 

are disclosed on the Company’s website.  The Company’s auditor is required to attend the Company’s AGM and is 

required to answer questions from shareholders relevant to the audit.   

 

Certification of Financial Statements 
 
(Recommendations: 4.2) 
 
The Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer have provided a declaration to the Board in accordance with 
section 295A of the Corporations Act and in respect of all financial statements of the Company and its consolidated 
entities that: 
 

• the financial records of the Company have been properly maintained; 

• the financial statements comply with appropriate accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the 

financial position and performance of the Company; and  

• have stated to the Board that such declaration is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal 

control and that the system is operating effectively. 

Remuneration Committee 
(Recommendations: 8.1, 8.2, 8.3) 
 
The Board has not established a separate Remuneration Committee.  Accordingly, the Remuneration Committee is 
not structured in accordance with Recommendation 8.1.  Given the size and composition of the Company, the Board 
believes that there would be no efficiencies gained by establishing a separate Remuneration Committee.  
Accordingly, the Board performs the role of Remuneration Committee.  Items that are usually required to be discussed 
by a Remuneration Committee are marked as separate agenda items at Board meetings when required.  When the 
Board convenes as the Remuneration Committee it carries out those functions which are delegated to it in the 
Company’s Remuneration Committee Charter.  The Board deals with any conflicts of interest that may occur when 
convening in the capacity of the Remuneration Committee by ensuring that the director with conflicting interests is 
not party to the relevant discussions. 

The full Board did not officially convene in its capacity as a Remuneration Committee during the Reporting Period, 
however remuneration-related discussions occurred from time to time during the year as required.   

Details of remuneration, including the Company’s policy on remuneration, are contained in the “Remuneration 

Report” which forms of part of the Directors’ Report and commences on page 16.  The Company's policy on 

remuneration clearly distinguishes the structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration from that of executive 

directors and senior executives.   
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued) 
 
Remuneration Committee (continued) 
 

Non-executive directors are remunerated at a fixed fee for time, commitment and responsibilities.  Remuneration for 
non-executive directors is not linked to individual performance.  From time to time, the Company may grant options 
to non-executive directors.  The grant of options is designed to attract and retain suitably qualified non-executive 
directors.   
 
Executive pay and reward consists of a base salary and long and short performance incentives, based upon length 
of service, experience and performance of the Company.  Short term performance incentives may include cash 
bonuses.  Long term performance incentives may include options granted at the discretion of the Board and subject 
to obtaining the relevant approvals. The grant of options is designed to recognise and reward efforts as well as to 
provide additional incentive and may be subject to the successful completion of performance hurdles.  Executives 
are offered a competitive level of base pay at market rates (for comparable companies) and are reviewed annually 
to ensure market competitiveness. 
 
There are no termination or retirement benefits for non-executive directors (other than for superannuation). 
 
The Board has adopted a Remuneration Committee Charter which describes the role, composition, functions and 

responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee.  The Company's Remuneration Committee Charter includes a 

statement of the Company's policy on prohibiting transactions in associated products which limit the risk of 

participating in unvested entitlements under any equity based remuneration schemes.  The Company’s 

Remuneration Committee Charter is disclosed on the Company’s website.  

 
Performance evaluation 
 
Senior executives 
(Recommendations: 1.7) 
 
The Managing Director in consultation with the Board reviews the performance of the Senior Executives.  The current 
size and structure of the Company allows the Managing Director to conduct informal evaluation of the Company’s 
senior executives regularly.  Open and regular communication with senior executives allows the Managing Director 
to ensure that senior executives meet their responsibilities as outlined in their contracts with the Company, and to 
provide feedback and guidance, particularly where any performance issues are evident.  Annually, individual 
performance may be more formally assessed in conjunction with a remuneration review.  As the Company grows, it 
will review the need for a more formalised approach to senior executive performance evaluation. 
 
During the Reporting Period, a performance evaluation of the Company’s senior executives took place in accordance 
with the process disclosed above. 
 
Board, its committees and individual directors 
(Recommendations: 1.6, 2.6) 
 
The Chair evaluates and monitors the performance of the Board on an ongoing regular basis.  The Chair meets with 
each individual director at least annually and also meets with the Board as a whole to discuss performance of 
directors. Measures against which the performance of the Board and its individual directors are measured include: 
 

• assessment of the skills, performance and contribution of individual members of the Board; 

• the performance of the Board as a whole; 

• awareness of directors of their responsibilities and duties as directors of the Company and of corporate 
governance and compliance requirements; 

• awareness of directors of the Company’s strategic direction; 

• understanding by the directors of the Company’s business and the industry and environment in which it operates; 

• avenues for continuing improvement of Board functions and further development of director skill base. 
 
Given the current size and structure of the Company, the performance of the Managing Director is evaluated 
informally through open and regular communication with the Board during which feedback, guidance and support is 
provided. In addition, the Managing Director's performance is reviewed by the Board by meeting and discussion 
annually based on observations and interactions during the previous 12 months. 
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Board, its committees and individual directors (continued) 
 
During the Reporting Period, an evaluation of the Board, individual directors and the Managing Director took place 
in accordance with the process disclosed above. The Company also provides appropriate opportunities for 
professional development of directors to develop and maintain their skills and knowledge needed to perform their 
roles effectively. 
 
The Company’s Process for Performance Evaluation is disclosed on the Company’s website. 
 

Ethical and responsible decision making 
 
Code of Conduct 
(Recommendations: 3.1) 
 
The Company has established a Code of Conduct as to the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the 
Company's integrity, the practices necessary to take into account its legal obligations and the reasonable 
expectations of its stakeholders and the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating 
reports of unethical practices.  
 
A summary of the Company’s Code of Conduct is disclosed on the Company’s website.   

 

Diversity 
(Recommendations: 1.5) 
 
The Company has established a Diversity Policy. However, the policy does not include a requirement for the Board 

to establish measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity. Rather, the policy states that the Board may set 

measurable objectives that are appropriate for the Company, which will be disclosed if established. 

 

The Board has not set measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity as the Board does not consider it practical 
at this stage to do so.  The Board will review its position on establishing measurable objectives as the Company’s 
circumstances change, and the number of employees and level of activities of the Company increase to a level that 
the Board considers will enable it to set meaningful and achievable objectives.   
 
There is one woman in the organisation.  The proportion of women employees in the whole organisation, women in 
senior executive positions and women on the Board as at the date of this statement are set out in the following table: 
 

 Proportion of women 

Whole organisation 1 out of 7 (14%) 

Senior Executive positions 0 out of 2 (0%) 

Board 1 out of 5 (20%) 

 
A summary of the Company’s Diversity Policy is disclosed on the Company’s website.   
 
Continuous Disclosure 
(Recommendations: 5.1) 
 
The Company has established written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule 
disclosure requirements and accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance.  
 
A summary of the Company’s Policy on Continuous Disclosure and Compliance Procedures are disclosed on the 
Company’s website.   
 
Shareholder Communication 
(Recommendations: 6.1, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4) 
 
The Company has designed a communications policy for promoting effective communication with shareholders, 
informing shareholders about itself via its website and encouraging shareholder participation at general meetings. 
 
As part of the Company communications policy, the Company also facilitates effective two-way communication with 
investors and encourages investors to use the Company’s website and to receive and send communications 
electronically.  The Company’s Investor Relations Policy is disclosed on the Company’s website. 
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Risk Management 
(Recommendations: 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4) 
 
The Board has adopted a Risk Management Policy, which sets out the Company's risk profile. Under the policy, the 
Board is responsible for approving the Company's policies on risk oversight and management and satisfying itself 
that management has developed and implemented a sound system of risk management and internal control. 

Under the policy, the Board delegates day-to-day management of risk to the Managing Director, who is responsible 
for identifying, assessing, monitoring and managing risks. The Managing Director is also responsible for updating the 
Company's material business risks to reflect any material changes, with the approval of the Board Given the current 
size and composition of the Board, the Board believes that there would be no efficiencies gained by establishing a 
separate risk committee. 

In fulfilling the duties of risk management, the Managing Director may have unrestricted access to Company 
employees, contractors and records and may obtain independent expert advice on any matter they believe 
appropriate, with the prior approval of the Board. 

In addition, the following risk management measures have been adopted by the Board to manage the Company's 
material business risks: 
 

• the Board has established authority limits for management, which, if proposed to be exceeded, requires prior 
Board approval;  

• the Board has adopted a compliance procedure for the purpose of ensuring compliance with the Company's 
continuous disclosure obligations; and 

• the Board has reviewed its corporate governance manual which contains other policies to assist the Company 
to establish and maintain its governance practices. 

 
The Company has formalised its approach to risk management by documenting all material business risks in a risk 
map and allocating ownership for material business risks to the Managing Director and management of individual 
material business risks to senior management and individuals within the organisation. The risk map is reviewed by 
management and updated on a quarterly basis and presented to the Board. All risks identified in the risk map are 
reviewed and assessed by management and the Board at least annually. The Board however does not have an 
internal audit function given the current size and composition of the Board. 
 
The categories of risk reported on as part of the Company’s risk management systems are: reputational; strategic; 
corporate governance; new investment; existing investment control; development projects; sale of investments; 
finance; operational risk; compliance and regulatory; legal; tax, environmental, economic, social sustainability and 
personnel.   
 
The Board has required management to design, implement and maintain risk management and internal control 
systems to manage the Company's material business risks.  The Board also requires management to report to it 
confirming that those risks are being managed effectively. The Board has received a report from management as to 
the effectiveness of the Company's management of its material business risks for the Reporting Period.  
 

A summary of the Company’s Risk Management Policy is disclosed on the Company’s website.  

 



AXIOM PROPERTIES LIMITED 
 

34 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued) 

 

Skills and experience Board 

Total Directors 5 Directors 

Executive leadership 
Sustainable success in business at a very senior executive level in a successful 
career. 

5 

Global experience 
Senior management or equivalent experience in multiple global locations, exposed 
to a range of political, cultural, regulatory and business environments. 

5 

Governance and people management 
Commitment to the highest standards of governance, including experience with a 
major organisation that is subject to rigorous governance standards, and an ability 
to assess the effectiveness of senior management.  

5 

Strategic thinking and risk management 
Track record of developing and implementing a successful strategy, including 
appropriately probing and challenging management on the delivery of agreed 
strategic planning objectives. Track record in developing an asset or business 
portfolio over the long term that remains resilient to systemic risk. 

5 

Financial management and acumen 
Senior executive or equivalent experience in financial accounting and reporting, 
corporate finance and internal financial controls, including an ability to probe the 
adequacies of financial and risk controls. 

5 

Industry knowledge and fund raising 
Experience working in property and infrastructure industry with projects involving 
capital outlays and long-term investment horizons.  Ability to raise funds from 
various sources domestically and internationally. 

5 

Health, safety and environment 
Experience related to workplace health and safety, environmental and social 
responsibility, and community. 

5 

Remuneration 
Board Remuneration Committee membership or management experience in relation 
to remuneration, including incentive programs and pensions/superannuation and 
the legislation and contractual framework governing remuneration. 

5 

Marketing 
Senior executive experience in marketing and a detailed understanding of the 
Group’s corporate purpose to create long-term shareholder value through the 
discovery, acquisition, development and marketing of property development and 
investment opportunities. 

5 

Public and government policy 
Experience in public, government and regulatory policy, including how it affects 
corporations. 

5 

 

Geographic experience Number of Directors 

Australia and New Zealand 5 

China 3 

Middle East 3 
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DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE 

BY PAUL GOSNOLD 

TO THE DIRECTORS OF AXIOM PROPERTIES LIMITED 

 

As lead auditor of Axiom Properties Limited for the year ended 30 June 2019, I declare that, to the 

best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

1. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 

relation to the audit; and 

2. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Axiom Properties Limited and the entities it controlled during the year. 

 

 

 

Paul Gosnold 

Director 

BDO Audit (SA) Pty Ltd 

Adelaide, 21 August 2019 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 
 

 Consolidated 

 

 

Notes 

2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Revenue from contracts with customers 2 447 3,823 

Other income 2 246 10,593 

Employee benefits expense  (1,987) (2,410) 

Depreciation and amortisation expense  (3) (4) 

Finance costs  (1) (893) 

Share of net profit/(loss) of equity accounted investments 12 142 15 

Other expenses 2 (1,221) (2,669) 

Profit / (Loss) before income tax benefit  
(2,377) 8,455 

Income tax expense 3 - - 

Profit / (Loss) for the year  (2,377) 8,455 

Other comprehensive income for the year  - - 

Total comprehensive income / (Loss) for the year  (2,377) 8,455 

    

    

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 5 (0.55) cents 1.98 cents 

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)  (0.55) cents 1.95 cents 

    

    

    

    

    

 

 

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019 
  Consolidated 

 

 

Notes 
2019 
$’000 

2018 

$’000 

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 6 9,207 1,472 

Trade and other receivables 7 480 223 

Other financial assets 9 - 10,565 

Other assets 10  33  31 

Total Current Assets  9,720 12,291 

Non-Current Assets    

Property, plant and equipment  - 3 

Inventory 8 7,200 7,200 

Other assets 10 339 207 

Investment properties 11 233 222 

Investments accounted for using the equity method    12 7,860 8,374 

Total Non-Current Assets  15,632 16,006 

Total Assets  25,352 28,297 

Current Liabilities    

Trade and other payables 13 216 712 

Borrowings 15 - - 

Provisions 14 228 255 

Total Current Liabilities  444 967 

Non-Current Liabilities    

Borrowings 15 - - 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  - - 

Total Liabilities  444 967 

Net Assets  24,908 27,330 

Equity    

Issued capital 16 54,440 54,118 

Reserves 16 - 367 

Accumulated losses  (29,532) (27,155) 

Total Equity  24,908 27,330 

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

Consolidated  Issued capital 
Accumulated 

losses Reserves Total 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Balance as at 1 July 2018  54,118 (27,155) 367 27,330 

Profit/(loss) for the year  - (2,377) - (2,377) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - (2,377) - (2,377) 

Share-based payments expense  - - - - 

Share Buy-Back   (45) - - (45) 

Reserves transfer - exercise of performance 
rights  367 - (367) - 

Balance at 30 June 2019  54,440 (29,532) - 24,908 

 

 

 

 

 

     
Balance as at 1 July 2017  62,298 (35,610) 585 27,273 

Profit for the year  - 8,455 - 8,455 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - 8,455 - 8,455 

Share-based payments expense  - - 145 145 

Return of capital  (8,543) - - (8,543) 

Reserves transfer - exercise of performance 
rights  363 - (363) - 

Balance at 30 June 2018  54,118 (27,155) 367 27,330 

 

 

 

 

 

     
      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

  Consolidated 

 
Notes 2019 

$’000 
2018 
$’000 

  Inflows / (Outflows) 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Receipts from customers  262 3,684 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (3,402) (4,907) 

Payment of project development costs  (143) (97) 

Interest received  346 126 

Finance costs  (1) (880) 

Net cash (used in) operating activities 6(ii) (2,938) (2,074) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Investment in joint venture  (479) (242) 

Proceeds from sale of Investment Property  - 32,622 

Purchase of Investment Property   - (221) 

Purchase of fixed interest securities  - (10,565) 

Proceeds from investment in associate  616 - 

Sale of fixed interest securities  10,565 - 

Proceeds from sale of units in investment trust  350 - 

Net cash provided by investing activities  11,052 21,594 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Repayment of borrowings  (335) (11,570) 

Proceeds from borrowings  - 82 

Buyback of unmarketable parcels  (44) - 

Payments for the return of capital to shareholders  - (8,543) 

Net cash (used in) financing activities  (379) (20,031) 

    

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  7,735 (511) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  1,472 1,983 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 6(i) 9,207 1,472 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 1: GENERAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
(a) Basis of Preparation 

The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations and complies with 

other requirements of the law.  The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial statements for 

the Group. For the purposes of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company is a for-profit 

entity. 

 

The accounting policies detailed below have been consistently applied to all of the years presented unless 

otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the Group consisting of Axiom Properties Limited and its 

subsidiaries. 

 

The financial report has also been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for investment properties, which 

are measured at fair value. Historical cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange 

for assets. 

 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 

dollars ($'000) unless otherwise stated under the option available to the Company under ASIC Corporations 

(Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) instrument 2016/191. 

 

The Company is a listed public company, incorporated in Australia and operating in Australia.  The entity’s 

principal activities are property investment and development.  

 
 (b) Adoption of new and revised standards 

Standards and Interpretations applicable to 30 June 2019  

In the year ended 30 June 2019, the directors have reviewed all of the new and revised Standards and 

Interpretations issued by the AASB that are relevant to the Company and effective for the current annual 

reporting period.   

 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 

The consolidated entity has adopted AASB 9 from 1 July 2018. The standard introduced new classification 

and measurement models for financial assets. A financial asset shall be measured at amortised cost if it is 

held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows which 

arise on specified dates and that are solely principal and interest. A debt investment shall be measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income if it is held within a business model whose objective is to both hold 

assets in order to collect contractual cash flows which arise on specified dates that are solely principal and 

interest as well as selling the asset on the basis of its fair value. All other financial assets are classified and 

measured at fair value through profit or loss unless the entity makes an irrevocable election on initial 

recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments (that are not held-for-trading or contingent 

consideration recognised in a business combination) in other comprehensive income ('OCI'). Despite these 

requirements, a financial asset may be irrevocably designated as measured at fair value through profit or loss 

to reduce the effect of, or eliminate, an accounting mismatch. For financial liabilities designated at fair value 

through profit or loss, the standard requires the portion of the change in fair value that relates to the entity's 

own credit risk to be presented in OCI (unless it would create an accounting mismatch). New simpler hedge 

accounting requirements are intended to more closely align the accounting treatment with the risk management 

activities of the entity. New impairment requirements use an 'expected credit loss' ('ECL') model to recognise 

an allowance. Impairment is measured using a 12-month ECL method unless the credit risk on a financial 

instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition in which case the lifetime ECL method is 

adopted. For receivables, a simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses using a lifetime expected 

loss allowance is available. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 1: GENERAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The consolidated entity has adopted AASB 15 from 1 July 2018. The standard provides a single 

comprehensive model for revenue recognition. The core principle of the standard is that an entity shall 

recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers at an amount that reflects 

the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The 

standard introduced a new contract-based revenue recognition model with a measurement approach that is 

based on an allocation of the transaction price. This is described further in the accounting policies below. Credit 

risk is presented separately as an expense rather than adjusted against revenue. Contracts with customers 

are presented in an entity's statement of financial position as a contract liability, a contract asset, or a 

receivable, depending on the relationship between the entity's performance and the customer's payment. 

Customer acquisition costs and costs to fulfil a contract can, subject to certain criteria, be capitalised as an 

asset and amortised over the contract period. 

 

As a result of this review, the directors have determined that there is no material impact of the new and revised 

Standards and Interpretations on the Company and, therefore, no material change is necessary to Group 

accounting policies. 

 

Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted  

The directors have also reviewed all new Standards and Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet 

effective for the year ended 30 June 2019. As a result of this review the Directors have determined that the 

following Standards and Interpretations may have a material effect on the Company in future reporting periods. 

 

AASB 16 Leases 

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard 

replaces AASB 117 'Leases' and for lessees will eliminate the classifications of operating leases and finance 

leases. Subject to exceptions, a 'right-of-use' asset will be capitalised in the statement of financial position, 

measured at the present value of the unavoidable future lease payments to be made over the lease term. The 

exceptions relate to short-term leases of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets (such as personal 

computers and small office furniture) where an accounting policy choice exists whereby either a 'right-of-use' 

asset is recognised or lease payments are expensed to profit or loss as incurred. A liability corresponding to 

the capitalised lease will also be recognised, adjusted for lease prepayments, lease incentives received, initial 

direct costs incurred and an estimate of any future restoration, removal or dismantling costs. Straight-line 

operating lease expense recognition will be replaced with a depreciation charge for the leased asset (included 

in operating costs) and an interest expense on the recognised lease liability (included in finance costs). In the 

earlier periods of the lease, the expenses associated with the lease under AASB 16 will be higher when 

compared to lease expenses under AASB 117. However EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation 

and Amortisation) results will be improved as the operating expense is replaced by interest expense and 

depreciation in profit or loss under AASB 16. For classification within the statement of cash flows, the lease 

payments will be separated into both a principal (financing activities) and interest (either operating or financing 

activities) component. For lessor accounting, the standard does not substantially change how a lessor 

accounts for leases. The consolidated entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2019 

 

The Group has conducted a preliminary assessment of the impact of the standard change and expects initial 

application will result in a ROU asset and lease liability, as indicated by the operating lease commitments in 

note 19. While the overall impact on profit is not expected to be material, application of this standard will result 

in a reduction in rent and increase in depreciation and interest expenses. The Group will continue to conduct 

a detailed assessment and manage the impact to, for example, credit ratings, leasing strategy, impairment 

testing and tax-effected accounting prior to the effective date.  Other than the above, there is no other material 

impact of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations on the Group and therefore no change is 

necessary to Group accounting policies. 
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NOTE 1: GENERAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(c) Statement of compliance 

The financial report was authorised for issue on 21 August 2019.   

 

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents to 

International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). The financial statements also comply with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

 

(d) Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 

controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company: 

 

• has power over the investee; 

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement in with the investee; and  

• has the ability to its power to affect its returns. 

 

The Company reassess whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements listed above. 

 

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights in an investee, it has the power over the 

investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the 

investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not 

the Company’s voting rights are sufficient to give it power, including: 

 

• the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the 

other vote holders; 

• potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties; rights arising from other 

contractual arrangements; and  

• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the 

current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including 

voting patterns at previous shareholder meetings. 

 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 

the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 

disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date 

the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 

 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 

policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. 

 

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 

members are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

 

(e) Significant accounting estimates and judgements 

The application of accounting policies requires the use of judgements, estimates and assumptions about 

carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 

relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions are recognised in 

the period in which the estimate is revised if it affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future 

periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
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NOTE 1: GENERAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

(f) Going concern 

The Directors have presented the financial statements on the basis that the Group will continue as a going 

concern. The Managing Director’s report and the Chairman’s Statement outline the actions that have been 

taken and results achieved within the past year in respect to improving the Group’s financial position and 

mitigating risks and uncertainties facing the Group. 

 

The Directors have examined significant areas of possible financial risk and have satisfied themselves that the 

Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. After due 

consideration the Board believes it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial 

statements. 

 

(g) Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred except those that relate to the acquisition, 

construction or production of qualifying assets where the borrowing cost is added to the cost of those assets 

until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use of sale. 

 
(h) Leases 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

 

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised at their fair value or, if lower, the present value of the 

minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease.  The corresponding liability to the 

lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. 

 

Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to 

achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Finance charges are charged 

directly against income, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are 

capitalised in accordance with the general policy on borrowing costs - refer Note 1(g). 

 

Finance leased assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset.  

 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term, except 

where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from 

the leased asset are consumed. 

 

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised 

as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-

line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 

economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 

 

(i) Other taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 

 

• when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, 

in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense 

item as applicable; and 

• receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included. 

 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 

receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 
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NOTE 1: GENERAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

  
(i) Other taxes (continued) 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash 

flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 

authority, are classified as operating cash flows.  

 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 

the taxation authority. 

 
(j)  Impairment  

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is an indication that an asset may be 

impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group 

makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.  

 

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is 

determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent 

of those from other assets or groups of assets and the asset's value in use cannot be estimated to be close to 

its fair value. In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of the cash-generating unit to which it 

belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the 

asset or cash-generating unit is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-

tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the asset. Impairment losses relating to continuing operations are recognised in those expense categories 

consistent with the function of the impaired asset unless the asset is carried at revalued amount (in which case 

the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease). 

 
An assessment is also made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is any indication that 

previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, 

the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has 

been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment 

loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  

 

That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 

depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised 

in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a 

revaluation increase. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the 

asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 
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NOTE 2: REVENUE AND EXPENSES  
 

 Consolidated 

 

2019 

$’000 

2018 

$’000 

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers   

Rental revenue 265 4,606 

Less Leasing incentives - (783) 

Net rental revenue 265 3,823 

Development fee income 182 - 

 447 3,823 

   

(b) Other income   

Interest received 245 247 

Change in fair value of investment properties - 10,339 

Other income 1 7 

 246 10,593 

   

(c) Other expenses   

Audit and accountancy fees 121 192 

Legal and consultancy fees 126 247 

Insurances 88 126 

Rent and outgoings 277 1,657 

Travel and accommodation 177 115 

Other expenses 432 332 

 1,221 2,669 

   

(d) Employee benefits expense   

Employee benefits expense includes the following specific amounts:   

Share based payments expense - 144 

Superannuation expense 94 112 

 

 
Revenue is recognised on an accruals basis at fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts 

disclosed as revenue are net of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled in 

exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met 

before revenue is recognised: 

 

Interest income 

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the financial 

asset. 
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NOTE 2: REVENUE AND EXPENSES (continued) 
 
Rental income 

Rental income from investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Contingent rental income is recognised as income in the periods in which it is earned. Lease incentives granted 

are recognised as a reduction as rental income received on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement 

date to the end of the lease term. Payments are typically received within 30 days. 

 
NOTE 3: INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

 Consolidated 
 2019 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
a) The prima facie income tax expense on the operating profit 

is reconciled to the income tax benefit as follows: 
  

 
Operating profit/(loss) before income tax (2,377) 8,455 

   
Income tax expense calculated at 27.5% (2018: 27.5%) (654) 2,325 

   
Adjusted for tax effect of:   
Non-deductible expenses 6 47 
Non-assessable income - (2,843) 
Other assessable income - 6,364 
Utilisation of carried forward prior year tax losses – revenue - (4,771) 
Utilisation of carried forward prior year tax losses – capital - (1,442) 
Unused tax losses not recognised as deferred tax assets 669 - 
Other deferred tax assets and tax liabilities not recognised (21) 320 

Income tax expense applicable to ordinary activities  - - 

 
  

b) Deferred tax balances   
   
Deferred tax assets comprise:   
Losses available for offset against future taxable income – 
revenue 9,939 8,959 

      Properties 55 69 
Impairment of properties 668 668 
Share issue expenses - 2 
Provisions and accruals 68 87 
Deferred tax assets not recognised (10,304) (9,253) 

 
426 532 

 
Deferred tax assets have been recognised to the extent of deferred tax liabilities.  The balance of deferred tax 

assets are not recognised. 

 
Deferred tax liabilities comprise:   
Construction expenditure capitalised (406) (512) 
Other (20) (20) 

 (426) (532) 

Net deferred tax liability - - 
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NOTE 3: INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 
 
The net deferred tax asset not recognised has been measured at the small business company tax rate of 27.5% on 

the basis that Axiom is a base rate entity for the year ended 30 June 2019.  

 

Legislation has been enacted to allow groups, comprising of a parent entity and its Australian resident wholly owned 

entities, to elect to be consolidated and be treated as a single entity for income tax purposes. The legislation, which 

includes both mandatory and elective elements, is applicable to Axiom Properties Limited. 

 

As at the reporting date, the Directors have not made an election to be taxed as a single entity. The financial effect of 

the legislation has therefore not been brought to account in the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019.  

 

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on 

the applicable income tax rate adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 

difference and to unused tax losses. 

 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end 

of the reporting period. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in 

which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of 

amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 

from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 

enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases 

of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except: 

 

• when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in 

a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

 

• when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or 
interests in joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and 
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets 

and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 

 

• when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 

transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

• when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or 

interests in joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 

which the temporary difference can be utilised. 
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NOTE 3: INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 
 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income 

tax asset to be utilised. 

 

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to 

the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when 

the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted at the reporting date. 

 

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in profit or loss. 

 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the 

same taxation authority. 

 

 NOTE 4: SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 

The following table represents revenue and results on an aggregated basis provided to the chief operating 

decision maker for the years ended 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2019. 

The basis for the segment reporting of the Group is that used by the Managing Director for monthly reporting 

to the Board. The two segments of the group are Investment Property and Development. Corporate is not 

considered a segment but rather a reconciling category. 

Continuing operations 

 Investment 
Property 

Development Corporate Consolidated 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

30 June 2019 

Segment revenue - 447 - 447 

Other Income - - 246 246 

Share of net profit/(loss) of equity 
accounted investments 

616 (474) - 142 

Segment expenditure -  (185) (i)(3,027) (3,212) 

Results from continuing 
operations 616 (212) (2,781) (2,377) 

     

Included within segment result:     

Rental revenue - 265 - 265 

Investment property direct 
operating expenses 

- - - - 

Depreciation - - (3) (3) 

Interest revenue - - 245 245 

Share-based payments expense - - - - 

Finance costs - - (1) (1) 

     

Segment assets 318 8,898 (ii)16,136 25,352 

Total assets includes:     

Equity Accounted Investments  - 7,860 - 7,860 

Segment liabilities 7 21 416 444 

Capital Expenditure 12 132 - 144 
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NOTE 4: SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 
 

Continuing operations 

 Investment 
Property 

Development Corporate Consolidated 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
30 June 2018 
 

    

Segment revenue 3,610 213 - 3,823 
Other income 10,376 - 232 10,608 
     
Segment expenditure (2,451)  (274) (i)(3,251) (5,976) 

Results from continuing 
operations 11,535 (61) (3,019) 8,455 

     
Included within segment result:     
Rental revenue 3,610 213 - 3,823 
Investment property direct 
operating expenses 

(2,451) - - (2,451) 

Depreciation - - (4) (4) 
Interest revenue 22 - 225 247 
Share-based payments expense - - 144 144 
Finance costs (893) - - (893) 
     
Segment assets 7,247 8,819 (ii)12,231 28,297 
Total assets includes:     
Equity Accounted Investments - 8,374 - 8,374 
Segment liabilities 4 340 623 967 
Capital Expenditure 222 207 - 429 

 
 
(i) Corporate Expenditure Summary 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

   
KMP and employee benefits expense 1,987 2,410 
Audit and accounting expense 121 191 
Consultants 72 14 
Insurance  88 126 
Legal 31 (31) 
Office rent and outgoings 122 93 
Other 606 448 

 3,027 3,251 
 

(ii) Corporate Asset Summary  
 2019 

$’000 
2018 
$’000 

   
Cash and cash equivalents 9,060 1,433 
Other financial assets 6,650 10,565 
Other 426 233 

 16,136 12,231 
 

Segment reporting 

 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 

decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 

performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors of Axiom Properties Limited. 

 

All Group assets are located in Australia, hence all revenue received was in Australia. 
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NOTE 5: EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

Basic earnings per share (0.55) 1.98 

Diluted earnings per share (0.55) 1.95 

   
2019 

Number 

 
2018 

Number 
The weighted average number of shares on issue used in the 

calculation of basic earnings per share. 
433,685,308 427,077,738 

Adjustment for employee rights outstanding - 6,754,658 

The weighted average number of shares on issue used in the 

calculation of diluted earnings per share 
433,685,308 433,832,396 

 
There are no reconciling items between the net result attributable to members of the parent entity as shown in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income and the amount used to calculate basic and diluted earnings per share. 
 
Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit/loss attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude 
any costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends, divided by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element. 
 
Diluted earnings per share are calculated as net profit/loss attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for: 
 

• costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends; 

• the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been 

recognised as expenses; 

• other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution 

of potential ordinary shares; and 

• divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted 

for any bonus element. 

 
NOTE 6: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
Consolidated 

 
2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Cash at bank and on hand 1,400 1,472 

Short-term deposits 7,807 - 

 9,207 1,472(1) 

 

Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily 

convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts 

are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

 

(1) All other cash is held on term deposit and has been classified as fixed interest securities and disclosed at Note 9 

Other financial assets. 

 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as 

defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

 

Consolidated 

2019 2018 

Cents per share Cents per share 
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NOTE 6: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued) 

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily and/or monthly bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits 

are made for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements 

of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. 

 
(i) Reconciliation to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows: 

For the purposes of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 

and at bank and investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

  

Cash and cash equivalents as shown in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, is reconciled to the related items 

in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as follows: 

 

Consolidated 
 

 

2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

 

 Cash and cash equivalents 9,207 1,472 

 
  

 
Consolidated 

 

2019 

$’000 

2018 

$’000 

(ii) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) for the year to net cash used in 

operating activities 

  

Operating profit/(loss) for the year after tax (2,377) 8,455 

Share of net (gain)/loss of joint ventures 475 - 

Proceeds from investment in associate (616) - 

Fair value adjustments on Hedge - 13 

Share of net (profit)/loss of associates - (15) 

(Profit) on sale of investment property - (10,339) 

Expenditure on development assets (144) (97) 

Depreciation and amortisation 3 4 

Equity-settled share-based payment - 144 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (189) (146) 

(Increase)/decrease in other assets (3) 159 

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (188) (252) 

(Decrease)/increase in accrued Interest 101 - 

(Decrease)/increase in deferred revenue - - 

Net cash used in operating activities (2,938) (2,074) 

 

 
(iii) Reconciliation of cash and non-cash 

movements in liabilities arising from 

financing activities 

 

2018 
$’000 

Cash flows 
$’000 

 

Transfer on 
sale of 

investment 
property 

$’000 
 

2019 
$’000 

 

 Borrowings - - - - 
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NOTE 7: CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

  

 
Consolidated 

 

2019 

$’000 

2018 

$’000 

Trade receivables  47 21 

Accrued income 101 121 

Development Fee Receivable 307 - 

GST recoverable  25 81 

 480 223 

 
Trade receivables are measured on initial recognition at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for 

settlement within periods ranging from 15 days to 30 days. 

 

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade debtors. The Group has applied the 

simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance. To measure 

the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days overdue. 

 

The amount of the loss allowance is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within other expenses.  

When a trade receivable for which an impairment allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible in a 

subsequent period it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 

off are credited against other expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. There were no past due trade 

receivables at reporting date. 

 

NOTE 8: INVENTORY 

 
Consolidated 

Non-Current 

2019 

$’000 

2018 

$’000 

Land (development)  7,200 7,200 

 
Axiom has 100% ownership interest in Worldpark land situated in Keswick, South Australia. The write down of 
inventories to net realisable value during the current financial year amounted to $nil (2018: $nil).  
 
Costs relating to the acquisition and development of land are capitalised and carried forward at cost, as inventories. 
As developed lots are settled the associated value of inventories is expensed to the statement of comprehensive 
income. Profits are brought to account on the contract of sale settlement. 
 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
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NOTE 9: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

 
Consolidated 

 
2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Fixed interest securities - 10,565 

 

Other financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable 
payments, and it is the Group’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. They are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and when the 
financial asset is derecognised. 
 
NOTE 10: OTHER ASSETS 
 

 
Consolidated 

Current 

2019 

$’000 

2018 

$’000 

Prepayments  33 31 

 
  

Non-Current   

Land (development) at cost 207 207 

Other development costs  132 - 

 339 207 

 
 
 

 Carrying 
Value 

Additions Disposals Transfer Impairment Carrying 
Value 

 2018     2019 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Land development at cost 207 - - - - 207 

Other development costs - 132  - - 132 

 207 132 - - - 339 
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NOTE 10: OTHER ASSETS (continued) 
 
 

 Carrying 
Value 

Additions Disposals Transfer Impairment Carrying 
Value 

 2017     2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Land development at cost - 207 - - - 207 

Interest rate swap  127 - (127) - - - 

 127 207 (127) - - 207 

 
 
NOTE 11: INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
 

 
Consolidated 

 

2019 

$’000 

2018 

$’000 

Investment property at cost 233 222 

Investment property at fair value - - 

 233 222 

 
 
 
The following table shows the reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance for investment properties: 

 
 

 

  

 

Francis St 

$’000 

Churchill North 
$‘000 

Total 

$‘000 

Balance at 1 July 2018 222 - 222 

Additions 11 - 11 

Change in fair value of investment properties - - - 

Disposals - - - 

Balance at 30 June 2019 233 - 233 

    

 

Francis St 

$’000 

Churchill North 
$‘000 

Total 

$‘000 

Balance at 1 July 2017 - 41,297 41,297 

Additions 222 82 304 

Change in fair value of investment properties - 10,339 10,339 

Disposals - (51,718) (51,718) 

Balance at 30 June 2018 222 - 222 
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NOTE 11: INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 
 

(i) Axiom previously held a 50% ownership interest in Churchill North which is situated on land under a 97 year ground 

lease with the South Australian Government.  Settlement of the sale occurred in April 2018. 

(ii) Axiom has entered into an agreement to purchase a freehold site on the corner of Francis and East Market Streets 

in Richmond, Western Sydney. 

 

As the Churchill North investment property was sold during the prior year, the fair value was determined based on the 

sale price. 

 

Investment properties are those properties that are held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation, or both. 

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

investment properties are carried at fair value with any change therein recognised in profit and loss. 

 

A property interest under an operating lease is classified and accounted for on a property-by-property basis when the 

Group holds it to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both.  Any such property interest under an operating lease 

classified as an investment property is carried at fair value.   

 

Prospective lessees may be offered incentives as an inducement to enter into operating leases.  These incentives may 

take various forms including cash payments, rent free periods or as a contribution to certain lease costs such as fitout 

costs or relocation costs.  The carrying amount of the lease incentives is reflected in the fair value of investment 

properties. 

 

Key Estimate 

Investment properties are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period with any gains and losses arising 
from a change in fair value recognised in profit or loss.  The Group relies upon independent valuations using either the 
capitalisation or discounted cashflow method and judgement is required in estimating the inputs to the model. 
 
 
NOTE 12: INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD  
 

Investment Summary 
 
Name of Entity Type of Investment 2019 

$’000 

2018 

$’000 

MB Estate Pty Ltd Joint Venture 660 1,288 
Currie St Pty Ltd Joint Venture 550 71 
Churchill North Centre Investment Trust 1 Associate 6,650 7,015 

Total  7,860 8,374 

  
Investments in joint ventures 
 

Details of the Group’s joint venture at the end of the reporting period is as follows: 

 

   Equity Participation Share 

Name of entity Principal activity 

Country of 

incorporation 

2019 

% 

2018 

% 

MB Estate Pty Ltd Land subdivision Australia 50 50 

Currie St Pty Ltd Land & building development Australia 501 501 
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NOTE 12: INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (continued) 
 

 

Reconciliation of carrying amount of the interest in joint venture recognised in the Group financial statements 

 

Summarised financial information of material joint venture – MB Estate Pty Ltd 

  

 

 

Consolidated 

  2019 2018 

  $’000 $’000 

Opening carrying amount  1,288 1,046 

Contributions to joint venture  - 242 

Share of net profit/(loss) of joint venture  (628) - 

Carrying value of the Group’s interest in the joint venture  660 1,288 

 

Axiom is responsible for initial equity contributions for the venture. The other party will contribute land and hold the land for the 
benefit of the joint venture until allotments are sold. After an initial distribution of capped profits paid to the other party, and a project 
management fee paid to Axiom, the remaining profits are to be distributed in accordance with the above equity participation share. 
 

 

  Consolidated 

  2019 2018 

  $’000 $’000 

Financial position    

Current assets  - 335 

Non-current assets  10,723 6,350 

Current liabilities  (63) (550) 

Non-current liabilities  (10,000) (4,847) 

Net assets  660 1,288 
 

  Consolidated 

  2019 2018 

Financial performance  $’000 $’000 

The group’s share of total comprehensive income  (628) - 

 
 
 
Summarised financial information of material joint venture – Currie St Pty Ltd 

  Consolidated 

  2019 2018 

  $’000 $’000 

Opening carrying amount  71 - 

Contributions to joint venture  4791 71 

Carrying value of the Group’s interest in the joint venture  550 71 

 
1Axiom has the right to contribute equity of up to $6 million over the course of the next 2 years to earn a 50% interest in the project, 

and will be responsible for delivering the development.  Axiom also has the right to earn a development management fee during the 
project’s life-cycle.  Project costs are being shared equally between the joint venture parties. 
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NOTE 12: INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (continued) 

   

  2019 2018 

  $’000 $’000 

Financial position    

Current assets  7 26 

Non-current assets  566 71 

Current liabilities  (23) (26) 

Non-current liabilities  - - 

Net assets  550 71 
 

   

  2019 2018 

Financial performance  $’000 $’000 

The group’s share of total comprehensive income  - - 

 

A joint venture is an arrangement where the parties who have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net 

assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which 

exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 

  

The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using 

the equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in 

which case it is accounted for in accordance with AASB 5. Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture 

is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s 

share of the profit or loss in other comprehensive income of the joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of a 

joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, 

form part of the Group’s net investment in joint venture), the Group discontinues to recognise its share of further losses. 

Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 

payments on behalf of the joint venture.  

 

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes 

a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the 

Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities is recognised as goodwill, which is included 

within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of net fair value of the identifiable assets 

and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the 

period in which the investment is acquired. 

 

The requirements of AASB 139 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with 

respect to the Group’s investment in joint ventures. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment 

(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with AASB 136 ‘Impairment of Assets’ as a single asset by 

comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment 

loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised 

in accordance with AASB 136 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases. 

 
Investments in associates 
 

Details of the Group’s investments in associates at the end of the reporting period is as follows: 

   Equity Participation Share  

Name of entity 

Principal 

activity 

Country of 

incorporation 

2019 

% 

2018 

% 

Measurement 

Method 

 

Churchill North Centre Investment Trust 1 

Investment 

trust Australia 34 36 Equity Method 
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NOTE 12: INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (continued) 

 

Summarised financial information of associate – Churchill North Centre Investment Trust 1 

  Consolidated 

  2019 2018 

  $’000 $’000 

Opening carrying amount  7,015 - 

Investment in unit trust  - 7,000 

Share of net profit/(loss) of associates  536 15 

Share of profit distribution paid by the associate  (551) - 

Disposal of investment in unit trust  (350) - 

Carrying value of the Group’s interest in the unit trust  6,650 7,015 

 

Set out below is the summarised financial information for the Group’s material investment in associate. 

   

  2019 2018 

  $’000 $’000 

Financial position    

Current assets  767 1,022 

Non-current assets  45,831 43,861 

Current liabilities  (26,951) (390) 

Non-current liabilities  - (25,134) 

Net assets  19,647 19,359 

Group’s share  34% 36% 

Group’s share of net assets  6,650 7,015 

   

  2019 2018 

Financial performance  $’000 $’000 

Revenue  4,420 995 

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations and total comprehensive 

income  1,731 39 

    

The group’s share of profit/(loss) from continuing operations and 

total comprehensive income  536 15 

The group’s share of other comprehensive income  - - 

The group’s share of total comprehensive income  536 15 

    

Group’s share of distributions  536 15 

 
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate 

in the financial and operating policy decisions of the entity but is not control or joint control of those policies. Investments 

in associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements by applying the equity method of accounting, 

whereby the investment is initially recognised at cost (including transaction costs) and adjusted thereafter for the post-

acquisition change in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. In addition, the Group’s share of the profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income is included in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

The carrying amount of the investment includes, when applicable, goodwill relating to the associate. Any discount on 

acquisition, whereby the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate exceeds the cost of investment, is 

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired. 

 

Profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the 

Group’s interest in the associate. 

  



AXIOM PROPERTIES LIMITED 
 

59 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 

NOTE 12: INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (continued) 

 

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equal or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group discontinues 

recognising its share of further losses unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on 

behalf of the associate. When the associate subsequently makes profits, the Group will resume recognising its share 

of those profits once its share of the profits equals the share of the losses not recognised. 

 

 

NOTE 13:  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 Consolidated 

Current 

2019 

$‘000 

2018 

$’000 

Trade payables (i) 216 158 

Accrued expenses - 554 

 216 712 

(i) Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. 
 
Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost and represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes 
obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. Trade and other payables 
are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months. 
 
 
NOTE 14: PROVISIONS 
 

 Consolidated 

Current 

2019 

$‘000 

2018 

$’000 

Employee benefits 228 255 

 228 255 

 

Employee benefits represents amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave. 

 

The current liability includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and amounts accrued for long 

service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having completed the required period of service. Based 

on past experience, the Group does not expect the full amount of annual leave or long service leave to be settled within 

the next 12 months. However, these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the Group does not have 

an unconditional right to defer the settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish to use their entitlement. 

 

In calculating the present value of future cash flows in respect of annual leave and long service leave, the probability 

of leave being taken is based on historical data. The measurement and recognition criteria relating to employee 

benefits have been discussed below. 

 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 

it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 

reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are not recognised for future operating 

losses. 

 

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 

reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense 

relating to any provision is presented in the statements of comprehensive income, net of any reimbursement.  
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NOTE 14: PROVISIONS (continued) 
 

Provisions are measured at the present value or management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 

present obligation at the end of the reporting period. 

 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects 

the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 

recognised as a borrowing cost.  

 

Employee leave benefits 

 

(i) Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave 

 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected 

to be settled within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are recognised in other payables or provisions in 

respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period. They are measured at the amounts expected to 

be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is 

taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable.  

 

 (ii) Long service leave 

 

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present 

value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the 

reporting period. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, 

and period of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period 

on corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 

outflows.  

 

NOTE 15: BORROWINGS  

  Consolidated 

  

2019 

$‘000 

2018 

$’000 

Secured at amortised cost    

Current    

Bank loans  - - 

Other loans  - - 

  - - 

    

Non-Current    

Bank loans  - - 

Other loans  - - 

  - - 

    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



AXIOM PROPERTIES LIMITED 
 

61 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 

NOTE 15: BORROWINGS (continued) 
 

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is 

discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been 

extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or 

liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income of finance costs. 

 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 

liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. 

 

 Consolidated 

 
2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Total facilities:    

• Secured bank loans - - 

 - - 

Facilities used    

• bank loans - - 

 - - 

Total facilities   

Facilities used  - - 

Facilities unused  - - 

   

Assets pledged as security Consolidated 

The carrying amounts of assets pledged as security for current and 

non-current interest bearing liabilities are: 
2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Fixed and floating charge   

Cash at bank - - 

Other financial assets 3,475 3,275 

Receivables - - 

Assets held for sale - - 

Inventory 7,200 7,200 

Investment property  - - 

Total assets pledged as security 10,675 10,475 

 
(i) Under the MB Estate joint venture agreement, Axiom must provide any financial guarantee if required to obtain 

finance.  In accordance with the Bank SA finance approval for Glenlea Estate Stage One, Axiom has provided 
a limited guarantee and indemnity for the facility limit of $9,905,500, BankSA has taken a flawed asset 
arrangement over cash deposit of $3.475 million and has taken a first registered real property mortgage over 
Worldpark land in lieu of any pre-sale condition.  These finance conditions are set to be released upon achieving 
sufficient sales or upon discharge of the facility. 

 
NOTE 16: ISSUED CAPITAL 
 

 Consolidated 

 

2019 
$’000 

2018 

$’000 

432,713,658 (2018: 427,132,396) Ordinary shares issued and fully 
paid 54,440 54,118 
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NOTE 16: ISSUED CAPITAL (continued) 
 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company in 

proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. 

 

On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, 

and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote. 

 

Ordinary shares have no par value and the company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 

 
 

2019 2018 

 
No. $'000 No. $'000 

Movement in ordinary shares on issue     

Balance at beginning of financial year 427,132,396 54,118 420,482,396 62,298 

Issued on exercise of performance rights  6,700,000 367 6,650,000 363 

Share Buy Back (1,118,738) (45) - - 

Return of capital - - - (8,543) 

Balance at end of financial year 432,713,658 54,440 427,132,396 54,118 

 

On 1 April 2019 the Company announced to undertake a buy-back of Unmarketable Parcels of shares valued at $500 

or less. The buy-back price was $0.039. Shares purchased by the company under the Buy-Back were cancelled in 

accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). Finalisation of the share buy-back was 20 May 2019. 

 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options 

are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

 

Performance rights 

The company has a performance rights-based payment scheme under which rights to subscribe for the company's 

shares have been granted to
 
certain Directors and senior executives and the cumulative expense is recognised against 

the reserve, refer Note 17. 

 Consolidated 

 

2019 
$’000 

2018 

$’000 

Reserves - 367 

 

NOTE 17:  SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 
  

 Grant Date Test Date Expiry Date  Balance 
at 1 July 

2018 

Issued Exercised Balance at    
30 June 

2019 

Tranche 3 16 Dec 2015 30 June 2018 30 June 2019  6,700,000 - (6,700,000) - 
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NOTE 17:  SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 

 
The Company’s Performance Rights were issued to employees and directors by the board pursuant to the Company’s 
Performance Rights Plan, approved by the Shareholders of the Company at the Annual General Meeting on 25 
November 2015. The Performance Rights of the Company have a nil exercise price and confer the right to be issued 
one fully paid ordinary share in the Company ranking pari passu with existing fully paid shares. The Performance 
Rights constitute a share-based payment, and in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy, have been valued 
at the date they were granted. 
 

The value assigned to the performance rights was 5.46 cents, which represented the market value of the company 

shares on the date of measurement.   

 

Equity settled transactions: 

The Group provides benefits to employees (including Directors and senior executives) of the Group in the form of 

share-based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-

settled transactions). 

 

There is currently one plan in place to provide these benefits; the Performance Rights Plan (‘PRP’), which provides 

benefits to Directors, key management personnel and senior management. The cost of these equity-settled 

transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which 

they are granted. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than 

conditions linked to the price of the shares of Axiom Properties Limited (market conditions) if applicable. 

 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period 

in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees 

become fully entitled to the award (the vesting period). 

 

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until vesting 

date reflects: 

 

• the extent to which the vesting period has expired; and  

• the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. No adjustment is made 

for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in 

the determination of fair value at grant date. The statement of comprehensive income charge or credit for a 

period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. 

 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is only conditional 

upon a market condition. If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised 

as if the terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the 

total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at 

the date of modification. 

 

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not 

yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award 

and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if 

they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph. The dilutive effect, if any, of 

outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share (see Note 5).
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NOTE 18:  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
(a) Financial risk management objectives 
The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks: interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and capital risk 

management. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 

and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses derivative 

financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. 

 

The use of financial derivatives is covered by the Group’s policies approved by the Board of Directors, which provide 

written principles on interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of financial derivatives and non-derivative financial 

instruments, and the investment of excess liquidity. Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed by 

management on a continuous basis. The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative 

financial instruments, for speculative purposes. 

 Consolidated 

(b) Categories of financial assets and liabilities 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Financial Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 9,207 1,472 

Trade and other receivables 478 223 

Other financial assets - 10,565 

 9,685 12,260 

Financial Liabilities   

Trade and other payables 216 712 

 216 712 

   
(c)  Capital risk management 
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balances.  
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders 
of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings. None of the Group’s entities are subject to 
externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
Operating cash flows are used to maintain and expand operations, as well as to make routine expenditures such as 
tax and general administrative outgoings. Gearing levels are reviewed by the Board on a regular basis in line with its 
target gearing ratio, the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. 
 

The Group’s strategy remains unchanged from 2018. The gearing ratios as at 30 June 2019 and 2018 were as follows: 
 

 Consolidated 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

   
Loans and other borrowings - - 

Less: cash and cash equivalents (9,207) (1,472) 

Net debt (9,207) (1,472) 

Total equity 24,908 27,330 

Total capital 15,701 25,858 

Gearing ratio (%) -% -% 
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NOTE 18:  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 
(c)  Capital risk management (continued) 
The decrease in the gearing ratio during 2018 resulted from the repayment of debt upon the settlement of the sale of 

Churchill Centre North and South. The Board will continue to monitor the level of gearing annually. 

 
 
(d) Interest rate risk 
The Group has a 3-month term deposit of $2.1 million, a 3-month term deposit of $2.1 million and a 3-month term 
deposit of $3.6 million with BankSA which mature between July and September 2019.  The Group is exposed to interest 
rate risk upon maturity of the term deposits.  The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially 
independent of changes in market interest rates. 
 

However, the Group may be exposed to interest rate risk on any future borrowings that are used to fund its development 

activities as entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating interest rates. Borrowings issued at variable 

rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group seeks to minimise the effect of this risk by using 

derivative financial instruments to hedge the risk exposure wherever it is prudent to do so. The use of financial 

instruments is dependent on management’s assessment of the interest rate risk going forward and this is assessed on 

a case by case basis. Financial institutions may also require the Group to enter into derivatives though loan facility 

documentation.  

 

The Company’s and Group’s exposures to interest rate on financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk 

management section of the note. 

 
Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis 

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative 

instruments at the reporting date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held 

constant throughout the reporting period. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is a reasonable basis on which to base 

the sensitivity analyses.  

 

At reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables are held constant 

the Group’s: 

 

• Net profit before tax would increase by $39K (2018: increase $53K) or decrease by $39K (2018: decrease 

$53K). This is due to the Group’s exposure to variable interest rates on its finance facilities. 

 

 

(e) Credit risk management 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 

Group. The Group is exposed to credit risk from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial 

institutions, as well as credit exposure from tenants. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 

counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss 

from defaults. The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited due to the high proportion of funds being held 

with high rated banking institutions. The table below shows the balance of cash and cash equivalents held with various 

financial institutions at the end of the reporting period. 

 
Bank Ratings at 30 

June 2019 
Balance at 30 

June 2019 
$’000 

Ratings at 30 
June 2018 

Balance at 30 
June 2018 

$’000 
Bank of South Australia Limited AA- 9,207 AA- 1,472 

Source: Standard & Poors 
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NOTE 18:  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

Whilst the Group does have exposure to a small spread of counterparties the Directors are of the view that there is no 

significantly elevated credit risk arising from these concentrated exposures. The carrying amount of financial assets 

recorded in the financial statements, net of any provisions for losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to 

credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral or other security obtained. 

 
(f) Liquidity Risk Management  
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its financial commitments. Ultimate responsibility for 

liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, who have built an appropriate liquidity risk management 

framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management 

requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and borrowing facilities and 

by monitoring forecast versus actual cash flows and matching where ever possible the maturity profiles of financial 

assets and liabilities.   

 

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining maturities for its non-derivative financial assets and financial 

liabilities. These are based upon the undiscounted cash flows of financial instruments based upon the earliest date on 

which the Group can be required to pay. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2019 

Weighted 
Average 

Interest rate 
% 

Less than 1 
month 

 
$’000 

1-3 months 
 
 

$’000 

3 months  
- 1 year 

 
$’000 

1-5 years 
 
 

$’000 

5 + years 
 
 

$’000 

Total 
 
 

$’000 

1BFinancial Assets        

2BInterest Bearing 1.88 3,455 5,752 - - - 9,207 

3BNon-interest Bearing - 478 - - - - 478 

  3,933 5,752 - - - 9,685 

4BFinancial Liabilities 

 
       

5BNon-interest Bearing - 216 - - - - 216 

Interest Rate Bearing 
Instruments 

- - - - - - - 

 
 216 - - - - 216 

Net Financial Assets 
 3,717 5,752 - - - 9,469 
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NOTE 18:  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 
 

 
 
 
(g) Net fair value 
 

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value (but fair value 

disclosures are required), presented in the financial statements approximates their net fair values. 

 
NOTE 19: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
Operating lease commitments 
 
Future Group lease commitments as at 30 
June are as follows: Consolidated Parent 

 
2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Within one year 166 99 166 99 

After one year but not more than five years 593 529 593 529 

More than five years - - - - 

 
759 628 759 628 

 
The commitments comprise of rent for the Sydney and Adelaide Office Leases and a motor vehicle operating lease.  
 
Capital commitments 
 
Future Group capital commitments as at 30 
June are as follows: Consolidated Parent 

 
2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Within one year - - - - 

After one year but not more than five years - - - - 

More than five years - - - - 

 

2018 

Weighted 
Average 

Interest rate 
% 

Less than 1 
month 

 
$’000 

1-3 months 
 
 

$’000 

3 months  
- 1 year 

 
$’000 

1-5 years 
 
 

$’000 

5 + years 
 
 

$’000 

Total 
 
 

$’000 

1BFinancial Assets        

2BInterest Bearing 2.41 6,509 3,500 2,028 - - 12,037 

3BNon-interest Bearing - 223 - - - - 223 

  6,732 3,500 2,028 - - 12,260 

4BFinancial Liabilities 

 
       

5BNon-interest Bearing - 377 - - - - 377 

Interest Rate Bearing 
Instruments 

- - - - - - - 

 
 377 - - - - 377 

Net Financial Assets 
 6,355 3,500 2,028 - - 11,883 
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NOTE 20: RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE 
 

a) Pivot Group Pty Ltd 

Pivot Group Pty Ltd, a Director related entity of Mr B P Laurance, was reimbursed for travel and accommodation costs 

in connection with consultancy services provided to the Board by its Chairman Peter Laurance A.O. The expenses 

were reimbursed at cost.  The total charged to the Company was $Nil (2018: $6,457).   

 

b) Integrated Event Delivery Management Pty Ltd 

Integrated Event Delivery Management Pty Ltd, a Director related entity of Mr J S Howe, was reimbursed for Director 

required travel and accommodation costs. The expenses were reimbursed at cost.  The total charged to the Company 

was $7,193.50 (2018: $4,314).  Axiom was reimbursed for Adelaide office rental and outgoings costs.  The expenses 

were reimbursed at costs.  The total received by Axiom was $30,295 (2018: $Nil). 

 

d)    MB Estate Pty Ltd 

Axiom Mt Barker Pty Ltd as trustee for the Axiom Mt Barker Trust has a 50% interest in MB Estate Pty Ltd (MB Estate). 

MB Estate forms part of the investments accounted for using the equity method as disclosed in Note 12. 

 

e) Currie St Pty Ltd 

Axiom Currie St Pty Ltd as trustee for the Axiom Currie St Trust has a 50% interest in Currie St Pty Ltd (Currie St). 

Currie St is jointly controlled with Auspac Networks Pty Ltd. Currie St forms part of the investments accounted for using 

the equity method as disclosed in Note 12. 

 

f)   Balances between the company and subsidiaries (Note 25), which are related parties of the Company, have been 

eliminated on consolidation and not disclosed in this note.  

 

Ultimate Parent Entity 

The parent entity in the Group is Axiom Properties Limited.  The ultimate parent entity is Axiom Properties Limited. 

 

NOTE 21: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 

 

The aggregate compensation made to key management personnel of the Group is set out below: 

  Consolidated 

  2019 2018 

  $ $ 

Short-term employee benefits  1,343,529 1,579,585 

Post-employment benefits  97,024 94,340 

Share-based payment  - 122,541 

Long-term employee benefits  (32,000) (39,940) 

  1,408,553 1,756,526 
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NOTE 22: PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 
 

 Financial position  

 
2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Assets  

Current assets 9,567 12,228 

Non-current assets 27,449 26,863 

Total assets 37,016 39,091 

   

Liabilities  

Current liabilities 416 623 

Non-current liabilities 50,210 50,203 

Total liabilities 50,626 50,826 

Net Assets (13,610) (11,735) 

 

 Equity   

 Issued capital  54,439 54,118 

 Accumulated losses (68,049) (66,218) 

 Share based payment reserve  - 367 

 Total Equity (13,610) (11,735) 

 

Financial performance  

 
2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Profit/(Loss) for the year (1,831) (3,004) 

Other comprehensive income - - 

Total comprehensive income (1,831) (3,004) 

 
Contingent liabilities of the parent entity 
There are no contingent liabilities of the parent entity at the end of the reporting period. 
 
Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment by the parent entity 
There are no commitments by the parent entity at balance date other than those disclosed at Note 19. 
 
The financial information for the parent entity, Axiom Properties Limited, disclosed above has been prepared on the 

same basis as the consolidated financial statements, except as set out below. 

 

(i) Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities 

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for at cost less any impairment in the 

financial statements of Axiom Properties Limited. Any dividends received from associates are recognised in the 

parent entity’s profit or loss, rather than being deducted from the carrying amount of these investments. 
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NOTE 23: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 
 
Subsequent to 30 June 2019 and as announced to the ASX on 4 July 2019, Axiom entered into a conditional agreement 
with Woolworths to purchase a strategic, 3-hectare retail site in Butler, WA for $9.6m.  In accordance with the terms of 
the agreement, a deposit of $479,769 was paid to Woolworth’s solicitors to be held in trust until settlement.  The deposit 
is fully refundable should Axiom not achieve satisfactory Development Approval in 18 months. 
 
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2019 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect: 
 

• the Group’s operations in future financial years; or 
• the results of those operations in future financial years; or 
• the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years. 

 
 
 
 
 
NOTE 24: AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION  
 
The auditor of Axiom Properties Limited is BDO Audit (SA) Pty Ltd.  Amounts received or due and receivable: 

 
 Consolidated Parent 

 2019 
$ 

2018 
$ 

2019 
$ 

2018 
$ 

Audit and review of the financial reports 75,500 74,470 75,500 74,470 

Other services - - - - 

 75,500 74,470 75,500 74,470 
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NOTE 25: PARTICULARS IN RELATION TO SUBSIDIARIES  
 

 

 Country 
Incorporation/ 

Formation 

Interest 
Held 

0BParent  
 2019 

% 
2018 

% 

Axiom Properties Ltd (ultimate parent of the Group) Australia    

Subsidiaries 
   

Axiom Resorts Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Axiom Resorts Management Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Superior Properties Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Axiom Property Funds Ltd Australia 100 100 

Axiom Development Management Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Axiom Worldpark Trust Australia 100 100 

Axiom Worldpark Adelaide Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Axiom Worldpark Adelaide Trust Australia 100 100 

Axiom Islington South Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Axiom Islington Project (Southern) Trust Australia 100 100 

Axiom Islington North Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Axiom Islington Project (Northern) Trust  Australia 100 100 

Axiom Resources Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Axiom Mt Barker Estate Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Axiom Mt Barker Trust Australia 100 100 

Axiom Currie St Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Axiom Currie St Trust Australia 100 100 

Axiom CBD Investments Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Axiom CBD Investments Trust Australia 100 100 

Axiom Francis St Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Axiom Francis St Trust Australia 100 100 

Axiom Butler Central Pty Ltd Australia 100 - 

Axiom Butler Central Trust Australia 100 - 



AXIOM PROPERTIES LIMITED 
 

72 

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION  

 
 
1. In the opinion of the Directors of Axiom Properties Limited (the ‘Company’): 
 

a. the accompanying financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 
including: 

 
i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and its performance 

for the year then ended; and 
 
ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards, Corporations Regulations 2001, professional 

reporting requirements and other mandatory requirements;  
 

b. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable; and 

 
c. the financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
 
2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in 

accordance with Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2019. 
 
 
This declaration is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ben Laurance  
MANAGING DIRECTOR 
 
 
 
 
 
Adelaide, South Australia 
Dated:  21 August 2019 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF AXIOM PROPERTIES LIMITED 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial report of Axiom Properties Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries 

(the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and 

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial report, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of the Group, is in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001, including:  

(i) Giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its 

financial performance for the year ended on that date; and  

(ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.  

Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial 

Report section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s 

APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 

financial report in Australia.  We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with the Code. 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 

given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the 

time of this auditor’s report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.  

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial report of the current period.  This matter was addressed in the context of our 

audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 

separate opinion on this matter.  
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Classification and Accounting Treatment of MB Estate Pty Ltd Joint Venture  

Key audit matter  How the matter was addressed in our audit 

As disclosed in Note 12, the Group 

holds a 50% equity participation share 

in MB Estate Pty Ltd. Classification and 

measurement of the Group’s share of 

net profit/(loss) of the joint venture 

was determined to be a key audit 

matter because the venture has 

progressed to a stage where allotment 

sales have now commenced and the 

associated accounting involves a 

degree of judgement and complexity, 

particularly the allocation of 

development costs between individual 

allotments.   

Our audit procedures included, among others: 

 Assessing management’s assessment of Axiom’s control over MB 

Estate Pty Ltd against the requirements of AASB 10; 

 Obtaining and reviewing the Joint Venture agreement to 

corroborate management assertions; 

 Considering whether there has been a change in the principal 

activities of the entity during the financial year which may have 

impacted the assessment of control. 

 Assessing the allocation of development costs between allotments 

against the requirements of AASB 102 Inventories; 

 Challenging inputs within the cost allocation schedule including 

budgeted costs and revenue;  

 Substantiating a sample of development costs to third party 

supporting documentation.  

Other information  

The directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the 

information in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019, but does not include the 

financial report and the auditor’s report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 

report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 

other information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the directors for the Financial Report  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 

true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 

and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 

financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the group to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that

includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an

audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material

misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material

if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic

decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the

Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website (http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx) at:

http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Report on the Remuneration Report

Opinion on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 18 to 25 of the directors’ report for the

year ended 30 June 2019.

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Axiom Properties Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2019,

complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Responsibilities

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the

Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  Our responsibility

is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with

Australian Auditing Standards.

BDO Audit (SA) Pty Ltd 

Paul Gosnold 

Director 

Adelaide, 21 August 2019 

http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf
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AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES EXCHANGE INFORMATION 

TOP TWENTY SHAREHOLDERS 
The percentage of the total holding of the 20 largest shareholders, as shown in the Company’s Register of 
Members as at 20 August 2019 is 85.66% (2018: 84.11%) and the names and number of shares are as follows: 

NAME NUMBER 
PERCENTAGE OF  

TOTAL SHAREHOLDINGS 

PIVOT GROUP PTY LTD 163,147,346 37.70% 
ORIENTAL UNIVERSITY CITY HOLDINGS (HK) LTD 82,250,000 19.01% 
STARTREND INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 34,000,000 7.86% 
STARTREND INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 14,000,000 3.24% 
EWOH PTY LTD <WEATHERED HOWE PENSION A/C> 9,290,450 2.15% 
BEEJAYEL PTY LTD <BEEJAYEL SUPERFUND A/C> 8,800,000 2.03% 
STARTREND INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <STARTREND 
INVESTMENTS A/C> 

6,641,834 1.53% 

CALAMA HOLDINGS PTY LTD <MAMBAT SUPER FUND A/C> 5,591,591 1.29% 
BEAUVAIS PTY LTD <JOHN BISHOP FAMILY A/C> 5,500,000 1.27% 
SEAMIST PTY LTD 5,250,000 1.21% 
MS LEANNE ROUVRAY <ROUVRAY FAMILY A/C> 5,000,000 1.16% 
OAKMOUNT NOMINEES PTY LTD <NARROMINE SUPER 
FUND A/C> 

4,876,500 1.13% 

BEEJAYEL PTY LTD <BEEJAYEL SUPER FUND A/C> 4,653,308 1.08% 
PLS & BAJ PTY LTD <JAMISON &SANTINON FAMILY A/C> 4,075,000 0.94% 
MR MILTON YANNIS 3,830,369 0.89% 
TEEPEE INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 3,500,000 0.81% 
BHMB NOMINEES PTY LTD <BHMB FUND A/C> 2,996,455 0.69% 
CARLISLE AND CO PTY LTD <WATTLE SUPERFUND A/C> 2,718,500 0.63% 
WHIMPLECREEK PTY LTD <STAWELL FAMILY A/C> 2,500,000 0.58% 
MR SEAN BAGULEY + MRS LOUISE BAGULEY <SLB SUPER 
FUND A/C> 

2,050,000 0.47% 

370,671,353 85.66% 

The substantial shareholders’ notices received by the Company as at 20 August 2019 are: 

SHAREHOLDER No. of Shares 
advised 

Peter Laurance 163,147,346 
Oriental University City Holdings (HK) Ltd 82,250,000 
Ben Laurance 71,495,142 

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 20 AUGUST 2019 
There were 401 shareholders holding issued ordinary shares in the Company which were distributed among 
shareholders as follows: 

CATEGORY No. of 
Shareholders 

1-1,000 9 
1,001-5,000 9 
5,001 – 10,000 11 
10,001-100,000 246 
100,001- and over 126 

401 

There were 30 shareholders with less than the marketable parcel (12,500 shares). 

VOTING RIGHTS 
On a show of hands, every member present in person or by proxy or attorney or duly appointed representative 
shall have one vote.  On a poll, every member present as aforesaid shall have one vote for each share of which 
the member is the holder. 
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